
 Page 1 
 

 
 
 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
PAJARO DUNES GEOLOGIC HAZARD ABATEMENT DISTRICT 

HYBRID MEETING in person at  

Board Room 
2661 Beach Rd. 

Watsonville, CA 95076 
 

Saturday, August 5th, 2023 9:00 a.m. 
 

 
And via ZOOM 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82232811149?pwd=WWlvcUkwQlBpb1hULzlEUEV4UXV5UT09 

 
 

Meeting ID: 822 3281 1149 
Passcode: 608360 

Phone in: +1 669 900 9128 US 
 

If you have any questions please contact the District Clerk at pdghad@gmail.com     
 
 

A. OPEN SESSION CALL TO ORDER – PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

Roll Call 
 
John Cullen, President     Michael Butner, Director 
David Ferrari, Vice-President    Patrick Dobbins, Director 
Raphael Kraw, Treasurer      Sarah Mansergh, Clerk 
 
 
 
B. MEMBER COMMENTS  

 
Matters under the jurisdiction of the Board and not on the posted agenda, may be addressed by members of 
the public before the Board for consideration. However, California law prohibits the Board from taking 
action on any matter which is not on the posted agenda unless it is determined to be an emergency by the 
Board of PDGHAD. Any person wishing to address the Board during the Member Comment period shall 
be permitted to be heard for up to 3 minutes, A) individuals may speak only once and B) the Board is unable 
to address any owner comments in depth but may choose to direct the Clerk to follow-up on the matter for 
a future meeting. 
 
 
 



 Page 2 
 

C. PRESIDENT’S REMARKS 
 

The President will use this opportunity to inform the public of issues affecting the District and other 
items of a general nature not otherwise provided for on this agenda.  
 

2023 Meeting Dates  
October 7th, 2023 
December 9th, 2023 
 
2024 Proposed Dates 
March 9th, 2024 
May 18th, 2024  
June 1st, 2024 
August 3rd, 2024 
October 5th, 2024 
December 14th, 2024 

 
D. CONSENT CALENDAR  

 
All matters listed on the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine by the Board of Directors and 
will be enacted by one motion at the appropriate time. There will be no separate discussion on these 
items. If discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the Consent Calendar and will be 
considered separately.  
 

1. Approval of meeting minutes from June 3rd, 2023 
 

 
E. TREASURER’S REPORT  

 
2. Financial Reports  

• Financial Report through June 2023 
• Warrant listing 

 
F. MEETING reports   

 
3.  Meetings attended by Directors at District expense since the last meeting of the Board (per                 
AB1234 requirements). Such reports may be made orally or in writing.  
  

G. NEW BUSINESS  
 

4. ITEM- Update on County application for grading permit including Long Term O&M plan document.   
a. Board report  
b. Public comment  
c. Board discussion  
d. Board action /direction 

 
5. ITEM-Review timeline and procedures for a 218 assessment election 



 Page 3 
 

a. Board report  
b. Public comment  
c. Board discussion  
d. Board action /direction 
 

6. ITEM-Consider Clerk’s attendance at the CSDA Conference November 6-8.   
a. Board report  
b. Public comment  
c. Board discussion  
d. Board action /direction 

 
 
H. DIRECTORS COMMENTS AND CONCERNS 

Members of the Board of Directors may address items of concern at this time and may request that 
items be placed on future agendas in accordance with the By-laws of the Board. 

I. ADJOURNMENT  

The next Meeting of the Board of Directors is scheduled for October 7th, 2023, at 9:00 a.m. online via 
Zoom and at the offices of the Pajaro Dunes Geologic Hazard Abatement District, Board Room, 
Pajaro Dunes, 2661 Beach Road, Watsonville, CA 95076. Individuals who require special 
accommodations are requested to contact the District Clerk by calling (831) 818-9253, no less than 
72 hours prior to the meeting or in the case of a Special Meeting, as soon as possible after the 
Agenda is posted. Copies of the agenda will be available 72 hours prior to the meeting and may be 
obtained by contacting the District at (831) 761-7744. All meetings are noticed and conducted in 
accordance with the Ralph M. Brown Act.  



 

 Page 1 
 

 
 
 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
PAJARO DUNES GEOLOGIC HAZARD ABATEMENT DISTRICT 

HYBRID MEETING in person at  

2661 Beach Rd. 
Watsonville, CA 95076 

 
Saturday, June 3rd, 2023 9:00 a.m. 

 

 
And via ZOOM 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82232811149?pwd=WWlvcUkwQlBpb1hULzlEUEV4UXV5UT09 

 
 

Meeting ID: 822 3281 1149 
Passcode: 608360 

 
Phone in: +1 669 900 9128 US 

 
If you have any questions please contact the District Clerk at pdghad@gmail.com     

 
 

A. OPEN SESSION CALL TO ORDER – PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

Roll Call 
 
John Cullen, President-present    Michael Butner, Director-present 
David Ferrari, Vice-President-not present   Patrick Dobbins, Director-present 
Raphael Kraw, Treasurer-not present    Sarah Mansergh, Clerk-present 
 
Michael Rodriquez (attorney), Stacey Stillman  
 
B. MEMBER COMMENTS  

 
Matters under the jurisdiction of the Board and not on the posted agenda, may be addressed by members of 
the public before the Board for consideration. However, California law prohibits the Board from taking 
action on any matter which is not on the posted agenda unless it is determined to be an emergency by the 
Board of PDGHAD. Any person wishing to address the Board during the Member Comment period shall 
be permitted to be heard for up to 3 minutes, A) individuals may speak only once and B) the Board is unable 
to address any owner comments in depth but may choose to direct the Clerk to follow-up on the matter for 
a future meeting. 
 
 
 



 

 Page 2 
 

C. PRESIDENT’S REMARKS 
 

The President will use this opportunity to inform the public of issues affecting the District and other 
items of a general nature not otherwise provided for on this agenda.  
 

1. 2023 Meeting Dates  
June 3rd, 2023 
August 5th,2023 
October 7th, 2023 
December 9th, 2023 
 

 
D. CONSENT CALENDAR  

 
All matters listed on the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine by the Board of Directors and 
will be enacted by one motion at the appropriate time. There will be no separate discussion on these 
items. If discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the Consent Calendar and will be 
considered separately.  
 

1. Approval of meeting minutes from May 6th, 2023 
Patrick Dobbins moves to approve the minutes from May 6th, 2023.  Michael Buttner seconds.  All 
approve-3-0. 

 
E. TREASURER’S REPORT  

 
2. Financial Reports  

• Financial Report through April 2023 
• Warrant listing 

 
F. MEETING reports   

 
3.  Meetings attended by Directors at District expense since the last meeting of the Board (per                 
AB1234 requirements). Such reports may be made orally or in writing.  
  

G. NEW BUSINESS  
 

4. ITEM- Update on County application for grading permit 
a. Board report  
b. Public comment  
c. Board discussion  
d. Board action /direction 

John Cullen gave a brief overview of the submission of the application to the County.  Included 
an update to the amount of rock that is available-including some that can be moved from 
neighboring areas of the seawall. Jessica will be on vacation and will review upon return.   
 
5. ITEM-Review and consider 2023/2024 FY Budgets 

a. Board report  



 

 Page 3 
 

b. Public comment  
c. Board discussion  
d. Board action /direction 

Michael Buttner moves to approve the 2023/24 FY Budgets.  Patrick Dobbins seconds.  All 
approve 3-0. 
 
6. ITEM-California Special District Association Overview and membership consideration 

a. Board report  
b. Public comment  
c. Board discussion  
d. Board action /direction 

Patrick Dobbins moves to approve membership in the CSDA not to exceed $1200 for the year.  
Michael Buttner seconds.  All approve 3-0. 
 
August meeting items-timeline/sequence for 218 election. Cost estimates.   
 
H. DIRECTORS COMMENTS AND CONCERNS 

Members of the Board of Directors may address items of concern at this time and may request that 
items be placed on future agendas in accordance with the By-laws of the Board. 

I. ADJOURNMENT  
Meeting was adjourned at 9:52am.   

The next Meeting of the Board of Directors is scheduled for August 5th, 2023, at 9:00 a.m. online via 
Zoom and at the offices of the Pajaro Dunes Geologic Hazard Abatement District, Board Room, 
Pajaro Dunes, 2661 Beach Road, Watsonville, CA 95076. Individuals who require special 
accommodations are requested to contact the District Clerk by calling (831) 818-9253, no less than 
72 hours prior to the meeting or in the case of a Special Meeting, as soon as possible after the 
Agenda is posted. Copies of the agenda will be available 72 hours prior to the meeting and may be 
obtained by contacting the District at (831) 761-7744. All meetings are noticed and conducted in 
accordance with the Ralph M. Brown Act.  



 Pajaro Dunes Geologic Hazard Abatement District

 Balance Sheet
 As of June 30, 2023

Jun 30, 23

ASSETS

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

100000 · SCCB Z1 - Checking 3957 244,099

100001 · SCCB Z2 - Checking 3965 71,189

100002 · SCCB Z1 Emerg - MM 1877 673,816

100003 · SCCB LTD - MM 0208 49,782

100004 · SCCB Bond Holding - MM 1232 302,334

Total Checking/Savings 1,341,220

Accounts Receivable

120000 · Assessments Receivable 144,730

Total Accounts Receivable 144,730

Other Current Assets

121500 · Prepaid Insurance 13,616

121600 · Prepaid Expenses 1,000

Total Other Current Assets 14,616

Total Current Assets 1,500,566

Fixed Assets

150000 · Riverwall 3,000,000

160000 · Accumulated Depreciation -1,850,000

Total Fixed Assets 1,150,000

Other Assets

182000 · Def. Outflow of Resource (Rock) 16,203

Total Other Assets 16,203

TOTAL ASSETS 2,666,769

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

200000 · Accounts Payable 11,835

Total Accounts Payable 11,835

Other Current Liabilities

220000 · Accrued Interest 17,390

Total Other Current Liabilities 17,390

Total Current Liabilities 29,225

Long Term Liabilities

285000 · Bonds Payable Z2 910,000

286000 · Bonds Payable Discount Z2 -52,250

286500 · Amort. Bond Discount Z2 38,125

Total Long Term Liabilities 895,875

Total Liabilities 925,100

Equity

30000 · Opening Balance Equity 608,448

32000 · Retained Earnings 1,134,547

Net Income -1,326

Total Equity 1,741,669

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 2,666,769

 Note ~ GHAD owns $15k of rock that is stored at Granite Rock

1



 Pajaro Dunes Geologic Hazard Abatement District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 2022 through June 2023

Zone 1 Zone 2

Jul '22 - Jun 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

410000 · Assessment Income 157,596 157,596 100%

410020 · Emergency Reserve Fund

410050 · Assess. Income PDA Stairs 5,377 4,797 580 112%

Total Income 162,973 162,393 580 100%

Expense

610155 · Postage and Mailings 295 1,648 -1,353 18%

610156 · Election Costs 2,719 -2,719

61510 · Advertising 549 -549

615115 · Office Expense 1,143 604 539 189%

615140 · Audit Expense 9,000 10,984 -1,984 82%

61518 · Clerk 2,663 9,227 -6,564 29%

615415 · Accounting 13,519 19,772 -6,253 68%

615416 · Assessment Admin. Expense 3,566 8,788 -5,222 41%

615617 · Website Maintenance 1,648 -1,648

615650 · Officer Election 75

615655 · Dues 550 -550

615656 · Board/Clerk Education 2,417 -2,417

616500 · Legal Fees 3,400 19,772 -16,372 17%

619010 · Technical Consulting Costs 82,504 130,028 -47,524 63%

628500 · Insurance Expense 16,477 16,477 0 100%

629030 · SBA Repayment to PHA Z2

629900 · Bond Fee Expense

650000 · Bank Service Charges

750000 · Depreciation Expense Z2

Total Expense 132,642 225,183 -92,541 59%

Net Ordinary Income 30,331 -62,790 93,121 -48%

Other Income/Expense

Other Income

410070 · Interest & Penalty Income 1,208 50 1,158 2,416%

Total Other Income 1,208 50 1,158 2,416%

Other Expense

855000 · Interest Expense

955500 · Interest Bond Discount

Total Other Expense

Net Other Income 1,208 50 1,158 2,416%

Net Income 31,539 -62,740 94,279 -50%

2



 Pajaro Dunes Geologic Hazard Abatement District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 2022 through June 2023

Zone 1

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

410000 · Assessment Income

410020 · Emergency Reserve Fund

410050 · Assess. Income PDA Stairs

Total Income

Expense

610155 · Postage and Mailings

610156 · Election Costs

61510 · Advertising

615115 · Office Expense

615140 · Audit Expense

61518 · Clerk

615415 · Accounting

615416 · Assessment Admin. Expense

615617 · Website Maintenance

615650 · Officer Election

615655 · Dues

615656 · Board/Clerk Education

616500 · Legal Fees

619010 · Technical Consulting Costs

628500 · Insurance Expense

629030 · SBA Repayment to PHA Z2

629900 · Bond Fee Expense

650000 · Bank Service Charges

750000 · Depreciation Expense Z2

Total Expense

Net Ordinary Income

Other Income/Expense

Other Income

410070 · Interest & Penalty Income

Total Other Income

Other Expense

855000 · Interest Expense

955500 · Interest Bond Discount

Total Other Expense

Net Other Income

Net Income

Zone 2 TOTAL

Jul '22 - Jun 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

209,647 209,647 0 100%

1,117 1,117 100%

210,764 210,764 0 100%

814 814 100%

284 1,141 -857 25%

2,853 -2,853

92,856 92,856 100%

697 -697

550 -550

100,000 100,000 100%

193,954 198,097 -4,143 98%

16,810 12,667 4,143 133%

3,637 150 3,487 2,425%

3,637 150 3,487 2,425%

51,225 51,225 100%

2,088 2,088 100%

53,313 53,313 100%

-49,676 -53,163 3,487 93%

-32,866 -40,496 7,630 81%

3



 Pajaro Dunes Geologic Hazard Abatement District

 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
 July 2022 through June 2023

Zone 1

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

410000 · Assessment Income

410020 · Emergency Reserve Fund

410050 · Assess. Income PDA Stairs

Total Income

Expense

610155 · Postage and Mailings

610156 · Election Costs

61510 · Advertising

615115 · Office Expense

615140 · Audit Expense

61518 · Clerk

615415 · Accounting

615416 · Assessment Admin. Expense

615617 · Website Maintenance

615650 · Officer Election

615655 · Dues

615656 · Board/Clerk Education

616500 · Legal Fees

619010 · Technical Consulting Costs

628500 · Insurance Expense

629030 · SBA Repayment to PHA Z2

629900 · Bond Fee Expense

650000 · Bank Service Charges

750000 · Depreciation Expense Z2

Total Expense

Net Ordinary Income

Other Income/Expense

Other Income

410070 · Interest & Penalty Income

Total Other Income

Other Expense

855000 · Interest Expense

955500 · Interest Bond Discount

Total Other Expense

Net Other Income

Net Income

TOTAL

Jul '22 - Jun 23 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

367,243 367,243 0 100%

6,494 5,914 580 110%

373,737 373,157 580 100%

295 1,648 -1,353 18%

2,719 -2,719

549 -549

1,143 604 539 189%

9,000 10,984 -1,984 82%

3,477 9,227 -5,750 38%

13,519 19,772 -6,253 68%

3,850 9,929 -6,079 39%

1,648 -1,648

75 75 100%

550 -550

5,270 -5,270

3,400 19,772 -16,372 17%

82,504 130,028 -47,524 63%

16,477 16,477 0 100%

92,856 92,856 100%

697 -697

550 -550

100,000 100,000 100%

326,596 423,280 -96,684 77%

47,141 -50,123 97,264 -94%

4,845 200 4,645 2,423%

4,845 200 4,645 2,423%

51,225 51,225 100%

2,088 2,088 100%

53,313 53,313 100%

-48,468 -53,113 4,645 91%

-1,327 -103,236 101,909 1%

4



 Pajaro Dunes Geologic Hazard Abatement District

 Bank Account Activity
 As of June 30, 2023

Type Date Num Name Debit Credit Balance

100000 · SCCB Z1 - Checking 3957 272,789.40

Bill Pmt -Check 05/11/2023 1466 Cal Engineering & Geology 26,186.25 246,603.15

Bill Pmt -Check 05/11/2023 1467 Jarvis Fay LLP 360.00 246,243.15

Bill Pmt -Check 05/11/2023 1468 Wendy L. Cumming, CPA 2,143.75 244,099.40

Total 100000 · SCCB Z1 - Checking 3957 0.00 28,690.00 244,099.40

100001 · SCCB Z2 - Checking 3965 86,665.42

Bill Pmt -Check 05/11/2023 1384 Pelican Home Owner's Association 15,476.00 71,189.42

Total 100001 · SCCB Z2 - Checking 3965 0.00 15,476.00 71,189.42

100002 · SCCB Z1 Emerg - MM 1877 673,815.63

Total 100002 · SCCB Z1 Emerg - MM 1877 673,815.63

100003 · SCCB LTD - MM 0208 49,533.51

Deposit 05/31/2023 Interest 126.36 49,659.87

Deposit 06/30/2023 Interest 122.60 49,782.47

Total 100003 · SCCB LTD - MM 0208 248.96 0.00 49,782.47

100004 · SCCB Bond Holding - MM 1232 300,821.66

Deposit 05/31/2023 Interest 767.42 301,589.08

Deposit 06/30/2023 Interest 744.53 302,333.61

Total 100004 · SCCB Bond Holding - MM 1232 1,511.95 0.00 302,333.61

TOTAL 1,760.91 44,166.00 1,341,220.53

5



Pajaro Dunes GHAD
Rock Revetment Maintenance
Pajaro Dunes Resort, Watsonville, California
100% Draft Engineer's Estimate of Probable Construction Cost
Phase 1 (Lots 94-103 & 107)

Description Qty Unit
Unit
Cost

Total

1 Mobilization (max 10%) 1            LS 60,000$         60,000$         

2 Water Pollution Control 1            LS 30,000$         30,000$         

3 Traffic Control 1            LS 20,000$         20,000$         

4 Site Access and Staging 1            LS 50,000$         50,000$         

5 Clearing and Grubbing 0.1          ACRE 83,000$         11,800$         

6 Remove and Replace Beach Access Stairs -         EA 40,000$         -$              

7 Excavation and Revetment Shoring -         LS 140,000$       -$              

8 (F)
Temporary Excavation and Backfill of Beach 
Sand (State of California)

2,133      CY 70$                149,333$       

9 (F)
Temporary Excavation and Backfill of Beach 
Sand (Pajaro Dunes)

1,685      CY 70$                117,963$       

10 (F)
Remove and Stockpile Exist Revetment Rock 
(State of California and Pajaro Dunes)

680         TON 80$                54,400$         

11 (F) Rock Slope Protection (4T, Method A) 1,350      TON -$              -$              

12 (F) Revetment Rock Placement 680         TON 110$              74,800$         

13 (F) Sand Backfill (Rock Voids) 310         CY -$              -$              

Total 568,296$       

Legend Total +10% 625,200$       

630,000$       

August 4, 2023

Item No.

(F) = Final Pay Item (construction quantity will not be 
measured for payment)

Total + 10% (Rounded)

PajaroDunesGHAD-RevetmentMaintenance-100PercentDraftEstimate-20230804-DP.xlsx Prepared by: Cal Engineering Geology, Inc.



PAJARO DUNES GEOHAZARD ABATEMENT DISTRICT  

Page i 

LONG-TERM ROCK REVETMENT OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE PLAN (O&M) 
 

PAJARO DUNES GEOHAZARD ABATEMENT DISTRICT  
 

CE&G DOCUMENT: 190782-001 
 

JULY 7, 2023 
 
 
 

Prepared by Cal Engineering & Geology Inc., a division of Haley & Aldrich (CE&G), for: 
 

Pajaro Dunes GHAD 
2661 West Beach Road 

Santa Cruz County, California 95076 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Christopher R. Nardi, P.E., G.E. Kate Krug, P.G.,  
Principal Engineer Associate Geologist 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
  Dan Peluso, P.E., G.E. 
  Senior Principal Engineer 
  



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page ii 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

 PDGHAD 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

1.0 Overview ........................................................................................................................................................ 1 
2.0 Normal Operation and Maintenance .................................................................................................. 2 

2.1 Operation ............................................................................................................................................ 2 
2.2 Maintenance Activities .................................................................................................................. 2 

2.2.1 Rock Revetment ............................................................................................................................ 2 
2.2.2 Additional Facilities .................................................................................................................... 2 

3.0 Inspection And Reports ........................................................................................................................... 3 
3.1 Inspection And Reporting Frequency ...................................................................................... 3 
3.2 Inspection Guidelines ..................................................................................................................... 3 

3.2.1 Physical Inspection ...................................................................................................................... 3 
3.2.2 Photo Documentation ................................................................................................................ 4 
3.2.3 UAV Change Detection Scan .................................................................................................... 4 
3.2.4 Reporting ......................................................................................................................................... 4 

4.0 Repair And Replacement ......................................................................................................................... 5 
4.1 Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 5 
4.2 Rock Revetment ............................................................................................................................... 5 
4.3 Permitting & Access for Repairs ................................................................................................ 5 

5.0 Emergency Operations/ Emergency Action Plan .......................................................................... 6 
5.1 Santa Cruz County Emergency Alerts and Warnings ......................................................... 6 
5.2 Structures or Facilities that are not operated or Maintained by the Pajaro 

Dunes GHAD ...................................................................................................................................... 6 
6.0 General ........................................................................................................................................................... 8 

6.1 Project Description ......................................................................................................................... 8 
6.2 Project Features ............................................................................................................................... 9 

6.2.1 Rock Revetment ............................................................................................................................ 9 
6.2.2 Sheet Pile Wall ............................................................................................................................ 10 
6.2.3 Stairways ...................................................................................................................................... 11 
6.2.4 Access ............................................................................................................................................. 11 

7.0 References ...................................................................................................................................................12 
 

 
FIGURES 

 
No table of figures entries found. 

  APPENDICES 
 
FIGURES 
Appendix A. Santa Cruz County Grading Permit 83-1194 



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page iii 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

 PDGHAD 

Appendix B. Example Inspection Report 
Appendix C. Emergency Action Plan 
Appendix D. Biotic Resources Report, 2015 
 
 
 



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 1 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

 PDGHAD 

1.0 OVERVIEW 

This Operations and Maintenance (O&M) Manual has been prepared by the Pajaro Dunes 
Geologic Hazard Abatement District (Pajaro Dunes GHAD) with the purpose to meet the 
Conditions of Approval from the 1983 grading permit (Appendix A). This manual shall 
identify the operation and maintenance activities (O&M) needed to maintain the coastal 
flood and erosion protection benefits provided by the Pajaro Dunes Rock Revetment.  The 
Rock Revtement resides along the boundary of the Pajaro dunes and beach and the homes/ 
developments that parallel the shoreline. 

This Manual covers the portion of the erosion and flood protection facilities (rock 
revetment) that begins at the Palm Beach State Park in the north and ends in the south, 
where the sheetpile wall starts, near where the Pajaro River outflows into Monterey Bay.  
Figure 1 – Location Map shows the approximate extent of the rock revetment and the 
local access roads in the vicinity of the Pajaro Dunes development.  This Manual and the 
activities described herein are necessary for the facilities to adhere to Santa Cruz County 
permit requirements (Appendix A- Permit Documents).  See Figure 1 and Figure 2 – 
Project Features for the extent of the facilities to which this O&M Manual is applicable and 
for associated facilities not covered by the Manual but pertinent to O&M activities.  The 
Manual also provides recommendations for repair and replacement, as well as 
recommendations for emergency procedures that can be implemented by the Pajaro Dunes 
GHAD to minimize flood and erosion damage and facilitate recovery efforts following a 
flood, tsunami, or coastal storm event (Figure 3 -100-year flood plain, Strom waves, and 
Tsunami Inundation Map) 

Although the flood control facilities are not part of a federal flood control project, the 
Manual was prepared in general conformance with the instructions contained in USACE 
Engineering Regulation (ER) 1110-2-401 but was reorganized to generally conform to a 
format adopted by the Pajaro Dunes GHAD for the operation and maintenance of both the 
rock revetment.   

The O&M manual is presented in the order of activities expected for the standard 
operations and maintenance of the rock revetment.  Additional information regarding 
nonstandard O&M activities is presented in the rear of the Manual (Emergency scenarios 
and general descriptions of the project site and associated facilities.  

It is anticipated that the Pajaro Dunes GHAD should update this Manual when changes 
occur to the facilities, O&M activities have occurred, or emergency procedures have been 
implemented.  Proposals for significant changes to the facilities or procedures that could 
potentially impact the performance of the facilities or the permit status of the facilities 
should be developed with the concurrence of Santa Cruz County. 



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 2 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

2.0 NORMAL OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE 

The performance of shoreline protection facilities is dependent on periodic inspection and 
regular maintenance or repair to ensure that the facilities perform as designed and 
constructed.  This section provides recommendations regarding the operation and 
maintenance of the Pajaro Dunes GHAD rock revetment structure.  See Figure 2 for the 
location and extent of the features associated with the shoreline protection facilities. 

2.1 OPERATION 

The operation requirements for the Pajaro Dunes rock revetment consist of the monitoring 
and possible emergency measures performed as required during and following severe 
storm events, as described in Section 5 – Emergency Operations/Emergency Action Plan 
(EAP).   

2.2 MAINTENANCE ACTIVITIES  

The maintenance activities for the Pajaro Dunes rock revetment are described below.  

2.2.1 Rock Revetment 

Maintenance for the rock revetment begins with observing the existing conditions along 
the revetment.  Observations should note changes in the apparent slope angle, i.e., flatter or 
steeper slope gradient, as well as displaced or translated rocks.  They should also focus on 
embedded debris, sand cover, and vegetation cover.  

Standard maintenance activities may include; restacking of rock materials to the original 
permitted extent and gradient (see Section 6.0). 

2.2.2 Additional Facilities 

The sheet pile wall and access stairways, while appurtenant to the rock revetment, do not 
fall under the O&M activities described in this document.  

  



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 3 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

3.0 INSPECTION AND REPORTS 

3.1 INSPECTION AND REPORTING FREQUENCY 

Inspections of the Pajaro Dunes rock revetment are to be performed on an annual basis and 
after a large storm or seismic event as described in Section 5 (Appendix C- Emergency 
Operation Plan).  Note the County only requires this to be completed every five years. A 
total of five annual inspections have been performed by Arup and CE&G between 2012 and 
2022, which included physically inspecting the entire length of the rock revetment, photo 
documenting its condition, and noting any observable changes since previous monitoring 
events (Arup, 2012, 2013, 2014; and CE&G 2019, 2022).  

Inspection activities are expected to be conducted on foot as vehicle access and use along 
the beach area is limited and may require permitting and approval.  Observations should be 
recorded referencing the stationing location presented in Figure 2.  Biologically sensitive 
areas exist along and around the rock revetment (Biotic Resources Group, 2015).  Any 
inspection activities should avoid impacting any vegetation or zones of potential biotic 
resource sensitivity (“Protected Biom”- Figure 2). 

While the rock revetment is the main facility requiring inspection, associated facilities 
should also be documented, as their upkeep may impact the rock revetment.  Maintenance 
recommendations for the associate facilities are not required, but any damage to these 
features that are noted during site observations should be reported to the owner/agency in 
control of these facilities, see Table 5.1. 

3.2 INSPECTION GUIDELINES 

Based on the findings from previous monitoring events by Arup and CE&G (Appendix B- 
Example Inspections and Reports), future annual inspections should include the following 
tasks for the rock revetment: 

• Physical inspection of the site features 
• Photo documentation -use of UAV (Unmanned Aerial Vehicle) recommended. 
• UAV Change Detection Scan (once every five years) 
• Reporting 

3.2.1 Physical Inspection 

The rock revetment is to be inspected by an experienced engineer or geologist to document 
the site conditions and determine whether maintenance is required, including emergency 
repairs.  Emergency repairs have been required in the past due to large storm events 



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 4 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

resulting in excessive amounts of focused erosion along the rock revetment.  During the 
inspection, notable changes, including but not limited to increases and decreases in sand 
dunes along the revetment, evidence of focused erosion, any damages, etc.   

3.2.2 Photo Documentation 

Photographs should be taken from the locations specified in Figure 2 to provide 
consistency with previous annual monitoring events (Appendix B- Example Inspections 
and Reports).  The purpose of taking photographs from the same locations during each 
event is to facilitate the detection of changes more easily from previous inspections.  A 
single representative photograph shall be selected for each location. Photographs can be 
procured by handheld device or through UAV. 

3.2.3 UAV Change Detection Scan 

A LiDAR scan of the rock revetment should be performed utilizing an UAV once every five 
years and after major seismic or storm events, as described in Section 5.  Data from new 
LiDAR scans will be compared to data from a baseline scan (the last scan documented in 
January 2023, as of this manuals creation) to generate change detection maps and 
determine what areas have undergone significant changes, especially after major storm or 
seismic events.  

3.2.4 Reporting 

Findings from each monitoring event shall be summarized in a memorandum that includes 
updated site photos and associated figures.  The summary should include a description of 
the site conditions during the time of the site visit as well as notable changes from previous 
site visits.  The memorandum should also include repair recommendations if needed. 

 

  



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 5 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

4.0 REPAIR AND REPLACEMENT 

4.1 INTRODUCTION 

This section outlines approaches to repair the rock revetment, which could include the 
replacement of sections depending on the severity of the damage. 

4.2 ROCK REVETMENT 

Rock revetment repairs should be performed if displacement or damage impairs the ability 
of the revetment to serve its intended function.  Minor repairs may include removing 
debris and/or relocating displaced rock and re-establishing the design grades. 

Replacement of a damaged section may be warranted if a significant amount of rock has 
been displaced.  If this is the case, the revetment material should be removed to expose the 
supporting ground or undisturbed rock, whichever is shallower.  The revetment section 
should then be reconstructed to restore it to the original design section. 

4.3 PERMITTING & ACCESS FOR REPAIRS  

If vehicle access is required for repair activities, the agencies listed below may require 
encroachment permits: 

• Santa Cruz County Department of Public Works (the County may request CEQA 
adherence, inclusive of a new biotic report as a condition of future grading permits.  
There may also be work restrictions based on protected bird nesting seasons) 

• California Coastal Comission, can claim jurisdiction for regions at or below the mean 
high tide. 

• California State Parks (Palm Beach State Park-Sunset State Beach) 

• Monterey Bay National Marine Sanctuary (MBNMS)- 
https://montereybay.noaa.gov/resourcepro/permit/permits_need.html     



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 6 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

5.0 EMERGENCY OPERATIONS/ EMERGENCY ACTION PLAN 

The following section outlines what conditions (storms, flood warnings, tsunamis) may 
trigger the need for an inspection independent of the annual inspections outlined in the 
Manual.  If one of the events described below has been indicated or reported to occur in the 
Rock Revetment area, the annual inspection protocol should be initiated. 

The emergency response/reporting structure is described in the Pajaro Dunes GHAD 
Emergency Action Plan (EAP).  Refer to the EAP in Appendix C for information regarding 
the chain of responsibility, emergency communications, and local and state emergency 
response assistance.  The EAP is included in Appendix C for reference. 

5.1 SANTA CRUZ COUNTY EMERGENCY ALERTS AND WARNINGS 

Santa Cruz County has implemented an emergency alert and warning system for floods, 
coastal storms, tsunamis, and earthquake events.  The warning system provided by the 
County will be uploaded and subscribed to by the Pajaro Dunes GHAD, and any incidents 
which have impacted the rock revetment area will trigger an inspection and report at the 
scale of an annual review (https://www.co.santa-
cruz.ca.us/OR3/Response/DigitalLibrary/EmergencyAlertsandWarnings.aspx).  

The County of Santa Cruz utilizes the information and warning provided through the 
“Tsunami Zone” website (https://www.tsunamizone.org/).  An official tsunami warning 
will be broadcast through local radio and television, wireless emergency alerts, NOAA 
Weather Radio, and NOAA websites (like Tsunami.gov).  It may also come through outdoor 
sirens, local officials, text message alerts, and telephone notifications.  

The warning system provided by the County will be uploaded and subscribed to by the 
Pajaro Dunes GHAD, and any incidents which have impacted the rock revetment area will 
trigger an inspection and report at the scale of an annual review. 

5.2 STRUCTURES OR FACILITIES THAT ARE NOT OPERATED OR MAINTAINED BY 
THE PAJARO DUNES GHAD 

Table 5-1 provides a list of structures and facilities located along or in proximity to the rock 
revetment that are owned, operated, and maintained by others.  Contact information is also 
provided if needed during emergency or non-emergency situations. 

 

 



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 7 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

Table 5-1 – Structures or Facilities Maintained by Others  

Structure or Facility Contact Information 
a) Access 

 
Santa Cruz County, Public Works  
Phone:  (non-emergency) (emergency) 
https://www.cityofsantacruz.com/government/city-
departments/public-works 
Caltrans 
http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/maint/msrsubmit/    
California State Parks- Sunset Beach/ Palm Beach State Park 
Day Parking Area 
https://www.parks.ca.gov/?page_id=544 
Pajaro Dunes GHAD- gate access 
Sarah Mansergh: pdghad@gmail.com  

b) Associated 
Facilities 
(Stairways & Sheet 
Pile Wall) 

Pajaro Dunes GHAD 
Sarah Mansergh: pdghad@gmail.com   

 

  



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 8 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

6.0 GENERAL 

6.1 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The Pajaro Dunes community includes private residences consisting of 146 single-family 
lots, 87 condominiums, and 23 townhouses.  These buildings were constructed on a narrow 
strip of land bounded by the Pacific Ocean on the southwest and by the Pajaro River on the 
northeast and southeast.  The development of the community began in the 1960s and 
continued into the 1970s.  Following several episodes of severe coastal erosion in the 
1970s and 1980s, approximately 6,000 feet of rock revetment was constructed in three 
segments between 1986 and 1988 along the ocean side of the development.  The rock 
revetment is relatively linear for most of its length, except on the southern end, where it 
curves around the Pelican townhouses and terminates after turning inland for a distance of 
about 200 feet.  In addition, there is a steel sheet pile wall that was constructed in 2003 
that trends for about 500 feet around the Pelican townhouses, curves around the 
townhouses, and terminates about 200 feet up the slough.  The sheet piles are 58 feet deep 
and extend about 5 feet above the existing adjacent ground surface on the development 
side of the wall.  This steel sheet pile wall is referred to as the “river wall” and was placed to 
reduce the risk of erosion and flood impacts of the Pajaro River on the proximal homes and 
infrastructure.  

The rock revetment is comprised of approximately 110,000 tons of riprap.  The top of the 
revetment varies in elevation from 19.5 to 22.0 feet above mean sea level, and the base of 
the revetment is at an elevation of -2.0 feet below mean sea level (NGVD 1929 Datum).  The 
revetment ranges in height from about 10 to 15 feet above the adjacent beach elevation 
during the majority of the year.  During major storm events, much of the beach sand is 
typically eroded, exposing more of the rock revetment.  The rock revetment has been 
damaged by coastal erosion, occurring during severe winter storms since its original 
construction at least two times: in 2002/2003 and 2004.  Following each damaging storm 
event, emergency repairs were implemented in the form of placing new riprap in selected 
areas along the revetment to prevent the collapse of the revetment.  The repaired area in 
2003 measured a total length of approximately 420 feet of revetment using approximately 
675 tons of riprap.  The repaired area in 2004 measured a total length of approximately 55 
feet of revetment using approximately 185 tons of riprap.  Note of the 675 tons of material 
placed, approximately 440 tons of material was placed on Park land and is slated for 
removal in future works.  In relation to the overall length of the revetment, both of these 
storm events would appear to us to have caused limited damage, affecting a total of 
approximately 8 percent of the overall revetment length and less than 1 percent of the 



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 9 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

overall volume of riprap comprising the revetment.  We are not aware of any storm damage 
to the river wall. (ARUP, 2012) 

The Pajaro Dunes development has, in the past, retained the engineering services of Haro 
Kasunich & Associates (HKA) and Arup North America, Ltd. (Arup) for annual inspections 
as well as engineering design of repair alternatives.  Key staff at HKA had worked on the 
original design and construction of the revetment before the rock revetment was 
constructed in the late 1980s.  More recently, Arup prepared the repair and maintenance 
recommendations and an initial repair design for a segment of the rock revetment (ARUP, 
2012).  This repair design has undergone initial reviews by stakeholder agencies.   

6.2 PROJECT FEATURES  

6.2.1 Rock Revetment 

The rock revetment (referred to as “seawall” in the original permit) extends approximately 
6,000 feet along the beach and is comprised of approximately 110,000 tons of rip rap.  The 
original design was completed by Rodgers E. Johnsen & Associates (RJ&A) and was 
approved under permit No. 2370, dated 6/10/1986, and the associated Santa Cruz County 
Use Permit Number 83-1194 (SCC, 1983). Additional Coastal Commission and County 
permits are associated with the rock revetment, 84-57-CZ (CCC, 1986) and 8-1194-CZ (CCC, 
1988).  However, Santa Cruz County refers to the base permit number for this project.).  
Key specifications for the approved rock revetment are listed below, and a cross-section of 
the original design is shown in Inset-Figure 01- Final Sea Wall Permit Schematic.  Some 
specifications (e.g., slope and height) vary depending on the location along the rock 
revetment at the Pajaro Dunes properties.  Following are some key attributes of the rock 
revetment:  

• Revetment slopes = 1.5:1 to 2:1. (RJ&A, 1986) 
• Top of revetment elevations = 19.5 to 22 feet above MSL (SCC, 1986) 
• Bottom of keyway elevation = -2.0 feet below MSL (SCC, 1986) 
• Length = 6,000 feet (ARUP, 2012) 
• Volume of rip-rap = 110,000 tons (ARUP, 2012) 
• Rip-Rap size = (based on 2.6 specific gravity) (“Revetment Specifications”- SCC, 

1986) 
• Armor Rock = 6,000-8,000 pounds / 2.8-4.5 feet in diameter 
• Armor Toe Rock = 8,000-10,000 pounds / 4.5-4.9 feet in diameter 
• Rip-Rap Type = Angular quarried granite that: must be hard, durable, sound, free 

from laminations and cleavage planes, and will not break during handling or 
disintegrate in salt air or salt water (“Revetment Specifications”) 



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 10 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

• Base of keyway width = 10 feet (SCC, 1986) 
• Rip-rap thickness = min 8 feet (SCC, 1986) 
• Filter fabric at the base of revetment = either plastic filter cloth or 700X “Mirafi.” 

(“Revetment Specifications” - SCC, 1986) 
• Revetment = armor rock (double layer minimum) (SCC, 1986) 

 

 

Inset Figure -01 Final Sea Wall Permit Schematic (SCC,1986)  

6.2.2 Sheet Pile Wall 

The sheet pile wall is located on the southern edge of the Pajaro Dunes development and 
ties into the southern termination of the rock revetment.  The general extent of the feature 
is as described below: 

• Length = 700 feet (ARUP, 2012) 
• Depth = 58 feet (ARUP, 2012) 
• Stick-up = 5 feet (ARUP, 2012) 



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 11 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

6.2.3 Stairways 

There are currently 16 wooden staircases that provide beach access from the Pajaro Dunes 
community properties.  The staircases start at the upper portions of the rock revetment 
and extend down the surface of the revetment and onto the beach.  Aside from one private 
staircase that extends directly from the center of lot 144, all other staircases are located 
between residential lots, condominiums, and/or townhouses, as listed below (ARUP, 2008).  

• Between Cypress Condominiums 10 & 14 
• Between Cypress Condominiums 17 & 20 
• Between Cypress Condominiums 23 & Lot 24/146 
• Between Lot 144 (Private) 
• Between Lots 56 & 57 
• Between Lots 14 & 15 
• Between Lots 10 & 11 
• Between Lots 4 & 5 
• Between Lots 106 & 107 
• Between Lots 102 & 103 
• Between Lots 98 & 99 
• Between Lots 92 & 93 
• Between Lots 43 & 44 
• Between Lots 78 & 79 
• Between Lots 74 & 75 
• Between Lot 141 & Pelican Point Townhouses  

6.2.4 Access  

The Pajaro Dunes GHAD coastal flood and erosion control facilities (rock revetment) are 
located along the Pajaro Dunes and beach in Southern Santa Cruz County, California.  Figure 
1 highlights the public roads that can be used to access areas along the Pajaro Dunes 
development and adjacent State Beach.  Figure 2 shows the extent of the rock revetment 
and the location of the vehicle access roads, gates, and stairways/ foot access adjacent to 
the rock revetment.   

 
  



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M) Page 12 
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

7.0 REFERENCES 

ARUP, 2012.  Pajaro Dunes Seawall- Seawall Assessment & Pre-Conceptual 
Recommendations. Prepared for Pajaro Dunes GHAD. ARUP Report # 217563, 
issued 5/14/2012. 

ARUP, 2008.  Chronology for Staircase Building Permit.  Project notes and documentation 
provided to CE&G. Document dated 2/14/2008. 

 
Biotic Resources Group, 2015.  Pajaro Dunes Seawall-Revised Revetment Design Repair. 
 Pajaro Dunes, Santa Cruz County.  Prepared for ARUP.  Dated 10/14/2015. 
 
California Emergency Management Agency (CEMA), 2009.  Tsunami Inundation Map For 

Emergency Planning: Watsonville West Quadrangle.  Dated July 1, 2009 
 
FEMA, 2017.  Flood Insurance Study-Santa Cruz County, California, and incorporated areas.  

FEMA Flood Insurance Study Number 06087CV001C, Version 2.3.2.0.  Dated 
September 29, 2017. 

 
Haro Kasunich & Associates (HKA), 2008.  Revetment Repair and Maintenance Plan - Long 

Term Revetment Modifications.  Prepared for the -Pajaro Dunes Geologic Abatement 
District.  Dated 12/10/2008.  14 Plan Sheets. 

 
Santa Cruz County Planning Department (SCC), 1983. Grading permit No. 83-1194, dated 

2/3/1983, and associated Santa Cruz County responses to the permit application.  
30-page document set. 

 
Santa Cruz County Planning Department (SCC), 1986.  Final Grading and Costal Permit to 

construct seawall.  Grading permit No. 2370, dated 6/10/1986, and associated Santa 
Cruz County Use Permit Number 84-57-CZ and 8-1194-CZ.  103-page document set. 

 
Santa Cruz County Planning Commission (SCC), 1988.  Permit to construct riprap seawall to 

protect 87 existing condominiums.  Development permit No. 87-0644, dated 
1/8/1988.  15-page document set. 

 
Rodgers E. Johnson & Associates (RJ&A), 1986.  Proposed Revetment Design.  Prepared for 

Pajaro Dunes South Homeowners Association.  Dated 2/7/1986. 
 



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M)  
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

FIGURES 



Bea
ch

 R
d

Mc Gowan Rd

Trafton R
d

Jensen Rd

Jensen Rd

Zm
udow

ski Beach State Springfield Rd

Bluff Rd

Rio Boca Rd

Shell Dr

Dair
y R

d
Rio Boca

R
d

Watsonville

Monterey
Bay

M
:\2

01
9\

19
07

82
-P

aj
ar

oD
un

es
G

H
A

D
-O

&
M

\G
IS

\A
rc

G
IS

\1
90

78
2-

P
aj

ar
oD

un
es

.a
pr

x;
 9

/2
6/

20
22

;  
kd

ro
zy

ns
ka

Phone: (925) 935-9771

www.caleng.com

Walnut Creek, CA, 94596

785 Ygnacio Valley Rd.

FIGURE   1 JULY 2023190782

LOCATION MAP
WATSONVILLE, SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

PAJARO DUNES GEOHAZARD ABATEMENT DISTRICT
LONG TERM ROCK REVETMENT OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE PLAN (O&M)

Rock Revetment

0 0.5 10.25

MILES

STREET CENTERLINES FROM CALTRANS CALIFORNIA ROAD
SYSTEM, DOWNLOADED ON 18 FEB 2020.
ORTHOIMAGERY FROM ESRI (MAXAR), 2021.

BASEMAP REFERENCE

1.

2.

MAP
LOCATION

PREPARED BY:

Palm Beach
State Park

Pajaro
 R

ive
r

W
at

so
nv

ill
e 

S
lo

ug
h

·|}þ1

·|}þ156

£¤101

Salinas

Gilroy

San Jose

Morgan
Hill

Capitola

Watsonville

Monterey

San Juan
Bautista

·|}þ17

VEHICLE ACCESS ROAD



P

P

P

190782 JULY 2023

LONG TERM ROCK REVETMENT OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE PLAN (O&M)
PAJARO DUNES GEOHAZARD ABATEMENT DISTRICT

WATSONVILLE, SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

FIGURE
CAL ENGINEERING & GEOLOGY

785 Ygnacio Valley Road

Walnut Creek, CA 94596

Phone: (925) 935-9771

PREPARED BY:

PROJECT FEATURES (1 OF 3)
2A

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEACH RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Watsonville Slough

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOCA

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CYPRESS GROVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVOCET CIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
Watsonville Slough

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO CA STATE ROUTE 1 ( 3 MI) STATE ROUTE 1 ( 3 MI)STATE ROUTE 1 ( 3 MI) (±3 MI)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PALM BEACH DAY PARKING OF SUNSET STATE BEACH

AutoCAD SHX Text
55

AutoCAD SHX Text
56

AutoCAD SHX Text
57

AutoCAD SHX Text
58

AutoCAD SHX Text
144

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
59

AutoCAD SHX Text
145

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
75

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
75

AutoCAD SHX Text
150

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATCHLINE - SEE FIGURE 2B

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STAIRCASE/BEACH ACCESS ON FOOT EXISTING ROCK REVETMENT EXISTING ROCK REVETMENT, BURRIED PARCEL BOUNDARY AND BUILDING NUMBERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMERGENCY ROCK PROTECTED BIOM (DATA PENDING)  VEHICLE ACCESS AND PARKING ACTIVE WATER WAY AND FLOW DIRECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
20+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALIGNMENT AND STATIONING TO BE USED FOR ANNUAL INSPECTIONS PHOTOGRAPH OBSERVATION POINTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASEMAP REFERENCE 1. ORTHOIMAGERY FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, 2016. ORTHOIMAGERY FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, 2016. 2. PARCELS FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY GIS, ACCESSED ONLINE ON 8/3/2022.PARCELS FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY GIS, ACCESSED ONLINE ON 8/3/2022.

AutoCAD SHX Text
21+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING HABITATS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL DUNE SCRUB (WITH NON-NATIVE LANDSCAPING) NON-NATIVE TREE GROVES



P

P

P

190782 JULY 2023

LONG TERM ROCK REVETMENT OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE PLAN (O&M)
PAJARO DUNES GEOHAZARD ABATEMENT DISTRICT

WATSONVILLE, SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

FIGURE
CAL ENGINEERING & GEOLOGY

785 Ygnacio Valley Road

Walnut Creek, CA 94596

Phone: (925) 935-9771

PREPARED BY:

PROJECT FEATURES (2 OF 3)
2B

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIO BOCA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLOVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANDERLING CIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIO BOCA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORM

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILLET CIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
Watsonville Slough

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALIGNMENT AND STATIONING TO BE USED FOR ANNUAL INSPECTIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
99

AutoCAD SHX Text
98

AutoCAD SHX Text
97

AutoCAD SHX Text
96

AutoCAD SHX Text
95

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
94

AutoCAD SHX Text
101

AutoCAD SHX Text
102

AutoCAD SHX Text
103

AutoCAD SHX Text
107

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
104

AutoCAD SHX Text
105

AutoCAD SHX Text
106

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
54

AutoCAD SHX Text
93

AutoCAD SHX Text
130 TONS OF EMERGENCY ROCK RIP-RAP PLACED ON PAJARO DUNES PROPERTY DURNING JANUARY 2003 (135 FT. x 12 FT.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATCHLINE - SEE FIGURE 2C

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STAIRCASE/BEACH ACCESS ON FOOT EXISTING ROCK REVETMENT EXISTING ROCK REVETMENT, BURRIED PARCEL BOUNDARY AND BUILDING NUMBERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMERGENCY ROCK PROTECTED BIOM (DATA PENDING)  VEHICLE ACCESS AND PARKING ACTIVE WATER WAY AND FLOW DIRECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
20+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALIGNMENT AND STATIONING TO BE USED FOR ANNUAL INSPECTIONS PHOTOGRAPH OBSERVATION POINTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASEMAP REFERENCE 1. ORTHOIMAGERY FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, 2016. ORTHOIMAGERY FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, 2016. 2. PARCELS FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY GIS, ACCESSED ONLINE ON 8/3/2022.PARCELS FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY GIS, ACCESSED ONLINE ON 8/3/2022.

AutoCAD SHX Text
21+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING HABITATS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL DUNE SCRUB (WITH NON-NATIVE LANDSCAPING) NON-NATIVE TREE GROVES

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATCHLINE - SEE FIGURE 2A



PP

P

190782 JULY 2023

LONG TERM ROCK REVETMENT OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE PLAN (O&M)
PAJARO DUNES GEOHAZARD ABATEMENT DISTRICT

WATSONVILLE, SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

FIGURE
CAL ENGINEERING & GEOLOGY

785 Ygnacio Valley Road

Walnut Creek, CA 94596

Phone: (925) 935-9771

PREPARED BY:

PROJECT FEATURES (3 OF 3)
2C

AutoCAD SHX Text
Watsonville Slough

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIO BOCA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PELICAN POINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEARWATER LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUFFIN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEARWATER LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANDPIPER LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING SHEETPILE WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
92

AutoCAD SHX Text
91

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
79

AutoCAD SHX Text
78

AutoCAD SHX Text
77

AutoCAD SHX Text
76

AutoCAD SHX Text
75

AutoCAD SHX Text
74

AutoCAD SHX Text
73

AutoCAD SHX Text
72

AutoCAD SHX Text
71

AutoCAD SHX Text
70

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
140

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STAIRCASE/BEACH ACCESS ON FOOT EXISTING ROCK REVETMENT EXISTING ROCK REVETMENT, BURRIED PARCEL BOUNDARY AND BUILDING NUMBERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMERGENCY ROCK PROTECTED BIOM (DATA PENDING)  VEHICLE ACCESS AND PARKING ACTIVE WATER WAY AND FLOW DIRECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
20+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALIGNMENT AND STATIONING TO BE USED FOR ANNUAL INSPECTIONS PHOTOGRAPH OBSERVATION POINTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASEMAP REFERENCE 1. ORTHOIMAGERY FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, 2016. ORTHOIMAGERY FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, 2016. 2. PARCELS FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY GIS, ACCESSED ONLINE ON 8/3/2022.PARCELS FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY GIS, ACCESSED ONLINE ON 8/3/2022.

AutoCAD SHX Text
21+00

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING HABITATS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL DUNE SCRUB (WITH NON-NATIVE LANDSCAPING) NON-NATIVE TREE GROVES

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATCHLINE - SEE FIGURE 2B



VE

AE

VE VE VE

AE

AE

X

M
:\2

01
9\

19
07

82
-P

aj
ar

oD
un

es
G

H
A

D
-O

&
M

\G
IS

\A
rc

G
IS

\1
90

78
2-

P
aj

ar
oD

un
es

.a
pr

x;
 9

/2
6/

20
22

;  
kd

ro
zy

ns
ka

Phone: (925) 935-9771

www.caleng.com

Walnut Creek, CA, 94596

785 Ygnacio Valley Rd.

 JULY 2023190782 FIGURE   3

100-YEAR FLOOD PLAIN, STROM WAVES,
AND TSUNAMI INUNDATION MAP

WATSONVILLE, SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA
PAJARO DUNES GEOHAZARD ABATEMENT DISTRICT

LONG TERM ROCK REVETMENT OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE PLAN (O&M)

0 400 800200

FEET

BASEMAP REFERENCE

1.

2.

INSURANCE ZONES FROM "FLOOD INSURANCE STUDY" BY FEMA (DOCUMENT DATED SEPT 29, 2017);
GIS DATA FROM HTTPS://GIS.SANTACRUZCOUNTY.US/GISWEB/ ACCESSED ONLINE ON 9/13/2022.
TSUNAMI WET AREAS FROM "TSUNAMI INUNDATION MAP FOR EMERGENCY PLANNING,
WATSONVILLE WEST QUADRANGLE" DATED JULY 1, 2009.
GIS DATA FROM HTTPS://GIS.SANTACRUZCOUNTY.US/GISWEB/ ACCESSED ONLINE ON 9/13/2022.

X

A/A99/AE/AH/AO

FEMA INSURANCE ZONES

100-YEAR FLOOD ZONES

500-YEAR FLOOD ZONES

PREPARED BY:

TSUNAMI WET AREAS

TSUNAMI INUNDATION AREA AREA OF INTEREST
(ROCK REVETMENT)

PROJECT FEATURES

VE 100-YEAR FLOOD ZONE
(HIGH VELOCITY WAVE)



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M)  
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

Appendix A. Santa Cruz County Grading Permit 83-1194 
 
 
 
 
  































































Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M)  
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

Appendix B. Example Inspection Report 
 
 
 
 
  



785 Ygnacio Valley Rd. | Walnut Creek | CA 94596 
6455 Almaden Expwy., Suite 100 | San José | CA 95120 

23785 Cabot Blvd., Suite 321 | Hayward | CA 94545 
www.caleng.com 

Pragmatic Expertise™ 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Sarah Mansergh, Clerk of the Board 
Pajaro Dunes GHAD 
2661 West Beach Road 
Watsonville, California 95076 

From: Dan Peluso, P.E., G.E., & Kevin Loeb, P.G., C.E.G. 
Cal Engineering & Geology, Inc. 
6455 Almaden Expressway, Suite 100 
San Jose, California 95120 

Date: August 29, 2022 

RE: Annual Inspection of Rock Revetment and River Wall 
Pajaro Dunes Resort 
Santa Cruz County, California 
CE&G Document 190780.006 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

This report presents the results of observations from our annual inspection of the rock 
revetment (seawall) and river wall at the subject property.  The inspection services 
presented in this report were undertaken at the request of the Pajaro Dunes Geologic 
Hazards Abatement District (PDGHAD).  This report presents a summary of our Second 
inspection report of the rock revetment and river wall. Our first inspection results are 
presented in our previous inspection memo, dated September 6, 2019. In addition, three 
previous inspections were performed by Arup.  The results of Arup’s previous annual 
inspections are presented in their reports, dated January 9, 2012; April 29, 2013; and 
November 7, 2014. 

2.0 DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND 

The Pajaro Dunes community includes private single-family residences, including detached 
single-family residences, as well as groups of townhouses and condominiums.  These 
buildings were constructed along a narrow strip of land bounded by the Pacific Ocean on 
the southwest, the Watsonville Slough on the northeast, Palm Beach State Park on the 
northwest, and the Pajaro River on the southeast (Figure 1).  We understand the 

Red strike through- Santa Cruz County  requested 
omitted text.

kkrug
Cross-Out

kkrug
Cross-Out

kkrug
Cross-Out



Annual Inspection of Rock Revetment and River Wall Page 2 
Pajaro Dunes Resort August 29, 2022 
 

Pragmatic Expertise™ 

development of the community began in the 1960s and continued into the 1970s.  
Following several episodes of severe coastal erosion in the 1970s and 1980s, 
approximately 6,000 feet of rock revetment was constructed in three segments between 
1986 and 1988 along the ocean-side of the development.  The rock revetment is relatively 
straight for most of its length, except on the south end, where it curves around the Pelican 
townhouses and terminates after turning inland for a distance of about 200 feet.  In 
addition, there is a steel sheet pile wall that was constructed in 2003 that begins near the 
terminus of the rock revetment and trends for about 500 feet around the Pelican 
townhouses, curves around the townhouses, and terminates about 200 feet up the 
Watsonville Slough. The sheet piles are approximately 58 feet deep, with about the upper 5 
feet exposed above the ground surface.  This steel sheet pile wall is referred to as the “river 
wall”.  

The rock revetment is comprised of approximately 110,000 tons of riprap.  The top of the 
revetment varies in elevation from 19.5 to 22.0 feet above mean sea level and the base of 
the revetment is at an elevation of -2.0 feet below mean sea level (NGVD 1929 Datum).  The 
revetment ranges in height from about 10 to 15 feet above the current beach level at the 
toe of the revetment.  The rock revetment has been repeatedly damaged by coastal erosion, 
occurring during relatively severe winter storms since its original construction at least two 
times: in 2002/2003 and 2004.  Following each damaging storm event, emergency repairs 
were implemented in the form of placing riprap in selected areas along the revetment.  The 
repaired area in 2003 measured a total length of approximately 420 feet of revetment 
using approximately 675 tons of riprap.  The repaired area in 2004 measured a total length 
of approximately 55 feet of revetment using approximately 185 tons of riprap.  Relative to 
the overall length of the revetment, both of these storm events appear to us to have caused 
limited damage, affecting a total of approximately 8 percent of the overall revetment length 
and less than 1 percent of the overall volume of riprap comprising the revetment.  We are 
not aware of any storm damage to the river wall.  

The Pajaro Dunes development has, in the past, utilized the engineering services of Haro 
Kasunich & Associates (HKA) and Arup North America, Ltd. (Arup) for periodic inspections 
as well as engineering design of repair alternatives. Key staff at HKA had worked on the 
original design and construction of the revetment before the rock revetment was 
constructed in the late 1980s.  More recently, Arup prepared repair and maintenance 
recommendations and an initial repair design for a segment of the rock revetment.  This 
repair design has undergone initial reviews by stakeholder agencies.  More recent reviews 
by the California Coastal Commission have indicated that a permit cannot be issued for the 
repair design originally developed by Arup and that any repairs or maintenance to the rock 

kkrug
Cross-Out

kkrug
Cross-Out



Annual Inspection of Rock Revetment and River Wall Page 3 
Pajaro Dunes Resort August 29, 2022 
 

Pragmatic Expertise™ 

revetment must not extend outside of the geometry of the rock revetment documented 
under the original development permit.   

3.0 SUMMARY OF OBSERVATIONS 

3.1 GENERAL 

A California Coastal Commission letter dated May 9, 2007, notes their request for a 
photographic record of the revetment, which should at a minimum include photographs of 
the entire length of the revetment.  We consider this request as guidance for the scope of 
our annual inspections.  

The purpose of the annual inspection is to observe and document the condition of the 
existing rock revetment (seawall) and river wall adjacent to the Pajaro Dunes Resort 
property.  This provides a basis for evaluating the impact of future coastal erosion.  The 
current report contains the most recent inspection results for the rock revetment and the 
river wall. 

We performed our inspection on July 14, 2022.  Our site observations included taking 
photographs of the rock revetment and river wall at the Pajaro Dunes development and 
documenting observable changes from our last monitoring event.  Our inspection generally 
included observing and photographing the revetment and river wall from the beach-side of 
the residences, as well as photographing other features of the revetment and river wall.  A 
site plan showing the approximate location of the photos (referenced by photograph 
number) is presented in Figures 2A and 2B.  Selected photos are appended to this 
memorandum.  Photographs were taken at similar locations and scales as our previous 
inspection, dated September 6, 2019, to observe changes more easily.  Photo numbers in 
each inspection report also remain the same.  

3.2 SITE OBSERVATIONS 

Evidence of erosion/sand loss from prior storm events is no longer observable in the 
vicinity of previous emergency repairs to the rock revetment.  These emergency repairs 
consisted of the placement of riprap at the exposed toe of the seawall to help stabilize the 
seawall during severe coastal erosion events.  As previously discussed by Arup (2014), the 
revetment wall near various lots including lots 15, 54, 55, 56, 59, 98, and 99 was either 
more prone to erosion or was already showing signs of erosion.  During our site 
reconnaissance, lots 15, 54, 55, 56, 59, 98, and 99 as well as most others showed an 
increase in sand cover from our previous inspection in 2019. The increase in the sand has 
covered the lower and mid portions of most of the rock revetment, and in some areas (lots 

kkrug
Cross-Out

kkrug
Cross-Out

kkrug
Cross-Out

kkrug
Cross-Out

kkrug
Cross-Out



Annual Inspection of Rock Revetment and River Wall Page 4 
Pajaro Dunes Resort August 29, 2022 
 

Pragmatic Expertise™ 

4, 70, 71, 72, 99) has developed small sand dunes on the beach in front of the lots, also 
resulting in sandy swales separating the dunes from the base of the rock revetment. 
Minimal to no changes were observed along the rock revetment for lots 44, 73, 74, 75, 77, 
90, 96, 97, and 106. 

We did not observe damage to the river wall adjacent to the Pelican Point townhouses.  In 
each of the site visits, both recent and past years, the condition of the river wall and 
adjacent beach area has remained relatively constant, as shown in the photos appended.  
However, as shown in the photos, we understand that this accumulation of sand at the 
mouth of the Pajaro River has created a flooding hazard in some years by impeding high 
winter river flows from reaching the Pacific Ocean.  

3.3 MONITORING  

We recommend the condition of the revetment be monitored on an annual basis and/or 
after major storm events, especially after significant changes are noted by residents.  

We recognize some houses are in a more vulnerable position due to their proximity to the 
top of the revetment.  Thus, if the revetment is severely damaged by coastal erosion during 
a storm event or other natural hazards, such as a tsunami or earthquake, the homes that 
are closest to or directly over the revetment will likely have a higher probability of being 
damaged. 

3.4 CONCLUSIONS AND DISCUSSION 

During the inspection, we did not identify areas along the rock revetment and river wall 
requiring immediate maintenance or corrective action. However, control of runoff 
discharged from downspouts for residences adjacent to the rock revetment should be 
considered to minimize seepage below the rock revetment that may cause migration of the 
finer soils below the revetment.  This is considered a relatively small expense.  

As noted in previous inspection reports, the revetment adjacent to Lots 97 thru 104 and 
Lots 15, 54, and 55, inclusive, should receive maintenance at the discretion of PDGHAD in 
the form of re-stacking the rock revetment to its original slope configuration where it has 
become over-steepened.  This work is not urgent and can be done in the normal course of 
business.  The reconstruction of the existing rock revetment in this area will require, as a 
minimum, approval from the California Coastal Commission, Santa Cruz County, and access 
permission from the State of California Parks Department.  In addition, design plans and 
specifications have been prepared, which may require updates.  In terms of previous 

kkrug
Cross-Out

kkrug
Cross-Out



Annual Inspection of Rock Revetment and River Wall Page 5 
Pajaro Dunes Resort August 29, 2022 
 

Pragmatic Expertise™ 

expenditures that we are aware of by PDGHAD for seawall maintenance, this is considered 
a small to moderate expense.   

4.0 LIMITATIONS 

CE&G has performed its services in a manner consistent with the level of care and skill 
ordinarily exercised by a member of the same profession currently practicing in the same 
location under similar circumstances.  No warranty or representation, either expressed or 
implied, is included or intended hereunder.  

This report was prepared by CE&G at the request of and for the benefit of Pajaro Dunes 
GHAD (“PDGHAD”) in CE&G’s contractual capacity as geotechnical engineer.  The limited 
purpose of the report is to present CE&G’s observations of the condition of the existing rock 
revetment and steel sheet pile river wall at the subject site.  This report is limited to this 
purpose and does not address the structural stability of the buildings; the serviceability of 
the buildings; or the current or intended functions of the buildings. CE&G did not conduct 
geotechnical or structural reviews of the buildings.  This report shall not expand CE&G’s 
liability to parties outside of its contractual obligations. 

5.0 CLOSURE 

We trust this report provides you with the information necessary to proceed.  If you have 
any questions, please contact us 

Sincerely, 

CAL ENGINEERING & GEOLOGY, INC. 
 
 
 
Dan Peluso, C.E. 49562, G.E. 2367 Kevin Loeb, P.G. 9665, C.E.G. 2763 
Senior Principal Engineer Senior Geologist 
 

 

 

 

 



Bea
ch

Rd

Mc Gowan
Rd

Trafton Rd

Jensen Rd

Jensen
Rd

Zm
udow

sk i Beach
State Springfield Rd

Bluff Rd

Rio
Boca

Rd

Shell Dr

Dair
y R

d
Rio

Boca
Rd

WATSONVILLE

Monterey
Bay

\\g
ra

ni
te

\C
E

G
 M

as
te

r 
Fi

le
s\

20
19

\1
90

78
0-

P
aj

ar
oD

un
es

G
H

A
D

-S
ea

w
al

lM
on

ito
rin

g\
G

IS
\A

rc
G

IS
\1

90
78

0.
00

7-
Fi

g1
-S

ite
Lo

ca
tio

n.
m

xd
; 7

/2
8/

20
22

;  
kd

ro
zy

ns
ka

190780

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

SITE LOCATION MAP
AUGUST 2022 FIGURE   1

Site Location

BASEMAP REFERENCE

1. 
2.

ORTHOIMAGERY FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, 2020.
STREET CENTERLINES FROM CALTRANS CALIFORNIA ROAD
SYSTEM, DOWNLOADED ON 15 MAY 2016.

6455 Almaden Expwy.

Suite 100

San Jose, CA 95120

Phone: (408) 440-4542

0 0.5 10.25

MILES

Gilroy

Morgan Hill

Campbell
Santa Clara

San Jose

Milpitas
Mountain View
Palo Alto

Seaside
Salinas

Hollister

Santa
Cruz Watsonville

MAP 
LOCATION

Pajaro River
Wats

onv
il le

Slo
ug

h



!.
!.

!.
!.!.

!. !. !.
!.

!. !. !. !. !. !. !.
!. !. !. !.

!. !.
!. !. !.

!. !.
!. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !.

Rio Bioca Rd

Sanderling Cir

Rio Boca Rd

Avocet Cir

Plover Cir

Monterey Bay

Willet Cir

789101112 6
5

4 3 2 1 107
101102103104105106

100
13

141554555657585960
144

145
24

23
22

21
2017

16
15

141

1D
2D 3D

4D 5D 6D
987654

321
333231302928272625242322

212019181716151413121110

\\g
ra

ni
te

\C
E

G
 M

as
te

r 
Fi

le
s\

20
19

\1
90

78
0-

P
aj

ar
oD

un
es

G
H

A
D

-S
ea

w
al

lM
on

ito
rin

g\
G

IS
\A

rc
G

IS
\1

90
78

0.
00

7-
Fi

g2
-P

ho
to

Lo
ca

tio
ns

.m
xd

; 7
/2

8/
20

22
;  

kd
ro

zy
ns

ka

190780

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

PHOTO LOCATION MAP (1 OF 2)

BASEMAP REFERENCE

1. 
2.

3.

PHOTOGRAPHS TAKEN ON 07/14/2022.
PARCEL DATA FROM COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SERVICES,
ACCESSED ONLINE ON 08/03/2018.
ORTHOIMAGERY FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY (2020).

AUGUST 2022 FIGURE   2A

0 200 400100

FEET

6455 Almaden Expwy.

Suite 100

San Jose, CA 95120

Phone: (408) 440-4542

LEGEND

!.
PHOTO NUMBER
AND LOCATION

86

M
AT

C
H

LI
N

E 
- S

EE
 F

IG
U

R
E 

2B



!.

!.

!.

!.

!.

!. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !.
!. !. !. !. !. !.

!. !. !. !. !.
!.

!. !. !. !. !. !.
!.

!.

!. !.
!.

!. !.
!.

!. !. !. !. !. !. !. !. !.
!.

!. !.

!.

!.

!.!.

!.

!.

!.

!.!.

!.

Rio Bioca Rd

Shearwater Ln

Puffin Ln

Sh
ea

rw
ate

r Ln

SandpiperLn

Pelican Pt

PuffinLn

Cormorant Way

Sanderling Cir

Monterey Bay

Willet Cir

5
4 3 2 1 107 101102103104105106

100 99 98 97 96 95
94 93 92 91 90

48 47 46
45 44 43 42 41 40 80 79 78 77 76 75 74

73 72 71 70 69 68 140

83.5

82.5

80.5

77.5

76.5

86

85 84

83

82

81

80 79

78

77
7675

74737271706968676665646362616059
58

5756555453525150494847464544434241403938373635343332

\\g
ra

ni
te

\C
E

G
 M

as
te

r 
Fi

le
s\

20
19

\1
90

78
0-

P
aj

ar
oD

un
es

G
H

A
D

-S
ea

w
al

lM
on

ito
rin

g\
G

IS
\A

rc
G

IS
\1

90
78

0.
00

7-
Fi

g2
-P

ho
to

Lo
ca

tio
ns

.m
xd

; 7
/2

8/
20

22
;  

kd
ro

zy
ns

ka

190780

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

PHOTO LOCATION MAP (2 OF 2)

BASEMAP REFERENCE

1. 
2.

3.

PHOTOGRAPHS TAKEN ON 07/14/2022.
PARCEL DATA FROM COUNTY OF SANTA CRUZ GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SERVICES,
ACCESSED ONLINE ON 08/03/2018.
ORTHOIMAGERY FROM SANTA CRUZ COUNTY (2020).

AUGUST 2022 FIGURE   2B

0 200 400100

FEET

6455 Almaden Expwy.

Suite 100

San Jose, CA 95120

Phone: (408) 440-4542

M
AT

C
H

LI
N

E 
- S

EE
 F

IG
U

R
E 

2A

LEGEND

!.
PHOTO NUMBER
AND LOCATION

86



Annual Inspection of Rock Revetment and River Wall  
Pajaro Dunes Resort August 29, 2022 

Pragmatic Expertise™ 

Attachment A. Photo Documentation 



Photo 1D: Sand dunes northwest of 1 Cypress Lane. Photo 2D: Sand dunes northwest of 1 Cypress Lane. 

Photo 3D: Sand dunes northwest of 1 Cypress Lane. Photo 4D: Sand dunes northwest of 1 Cypress Lane. 

Photo 5D: Sand dunes northwest of 1 Cypress Lane. Photo 6D: Sand dunes northwest of 1 Cypress Lane. 

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 1/16
JOB NR 



Photo 1: Units 1 - 10 Cypress Lane Photo 2: Units 8 - 14 Cypress Lane

Photo 3: Units 14 - 17 Cypress Lane

Photo 5: Units 20 - 23 Cypress Lane Photo 6: Lot 24/146

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 2/16
JOB NR 

Photo 4: Units 17 - 20 Cypress Lane



Photo 7: Lot 145 Photo 8: Lot 144 

Photo 9: Lot 60 Photo 10: Lot 59

Photo 11: Lot 58 Photo 12: Lot 57

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 3/16
JOB NR 



Photo 13: Lot 56 Photo 14: Lot 55

Photo 15: Lot 54 Photo 16: Lot 15

Photo 17: Lot 14 Photo 18: Lot 13

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 4/16
JOB NR 



Photo 19: Lot 12 Photo 20: Lot 11

Photo 21: Lot 10 Photo 22: Lot 9

Photo 23: Lot 8 Photo 24: Lot 7 

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 5/16
JOB NR 



Photo 25: Lot 6 Photo 26: Lot 5

Photo 27: Lot 4 Photo 28: Lot 3 

Photo 29: Lot 2 Photo 30: Lot 1

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 6/16
JOB NR 



Photo 31: Lot 107 Photo 32: Lot 106

Photo 33: Lot 105 Photo 34: Lot 104

Photo 35: Lot 103 Photo 36: Lot 102

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 7/16
JOB NR 



Photo 37: Lot 101 Photo 38: Lot 100 

Photo 39: Lot 99 Photo 40: Lot 98 

Photo 41: Lot 97 Photo 42: Lot 96 

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

JOB NAME 
ADDRESS 

CONTRA COSTA COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 8/16
JOB NR 



Photo 43: Lot 95 Photo 44: Lot 94

Photo 45: Lot 93 Photo 46: Lot 92

Photo 47: Lot 91 Photo 48: Lot 90

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 9/16
JOB NR 



Photo 49: Lot 48 Photo 50: Lot 47 

Photo 51: Lot 46 Photo 52: Lot 45 

Photo 53: Lot 44 Photo 54: Lot 43 

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 10/16
JOB NR 



Photo 55: Lot 42 Photo 56: Lot 41 

Photo 57: Lot 40 Photo 58: Lot 80 

Photo 59: Lot 79 Photo 60: Lot 78 

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 11/16
JOB NR 



Photo 61: Lot 77 Photo 62: Lot 76 

Photo 63: Lot 75 Photo 64: Lot 74 

Photo 65: Lot 73 Photo 66: Lot 72

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 12/16
JOB NR 



Photo 67: Lot 71 Photo 68: Lot 70 

Photo 69: Lot 69 Photo 70: Lot 68

Photo 71: Lot 140 Photo 72: Lot 141 

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 13/16
JOB NR 



Photo 73: Pelican Drive - Complex A Photo 74: Pelican Drive - Complex A

Photo 75: Pelican Drive - Complex A Photo 76: Pelican Drive - Complex B

Photo 76.5: Pelican Drive - Complex B Photo 77: Pelican Drive - Complex B 

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 14/16
JOB NR 



Photo 77.5: Pelican Drive - Complex B & C Photo 78: Pelican Drive - Complex B & C

Photo 79: Pelican Drive - Complex C & 
Sheetpile Wall

Photo 80: Sheetpile wall south of Pelican Drive - Complex C

Photo 80.5: Sheetpile wall south of Pelican Drive - Complex C Photo 81: Sheetpile wall south of Pelican Drive - Complex C & D

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 15/16
JOB NR 



Photo 82: Sheetpile wall south of Pelican Drive - Complex D Photo 83 : Sheetpile wall south of Pelican Drive - Complex E

Photo 83.5: Sheetpile wall & dunes south of Pelican Drive - 
Complex D & E

Photo 84: Sheetpile wall southeast of Pelican Drive - Complex E

Photo 85: Sheetpile wall east of Pelican Drive - Complex E
Photo 86 Sheetpile wall northeast of Pelican Drive - Complex E

6455 Almaden Expwy. 

Suite 100 

San Jose, CA 95120 

Phone: (408) 440-4542 

PAJARO DUNES SEAWALL 
ANNUAL INSPECTION OF ROCK REVETMENT AND RIVER WALL 

SANTA CRUZ COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
190780 August 2022

APHS PAGE 1/

SITE PHOTOGRAPHS 
PAGE 1/
JOB NR 

PAGE 16/16
JOB NR 



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M)  
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

Appendix C. Emergency Action Plan  



Pajaro Dunes Geologic Hazard Abatement District

Emergency Action Plan

PDA Staff/ Manager
(Reporting Entity)

Carol Turley 

GHAD President
(Liaison) 
John Cullen

GHAD Board
David Ferrrari
Raphael Kraw
Mike Butner

Patrick Dobbins

Attorney: Mike Rodriquez
Clerk: Sarah Mansergh

Engineer of Record
(On-site Coordinator)

Dan Peluso

Graniterock
(Equipment, Rock)

County, State Parks and 
Coastal Commission
(Permits and Inform)

Local Disaster Coordinator
(For larger disasters)

Fire Station 
Battalion Chief

Contact Tree

PDA Board President
Bob Scranton

Homeowners

Update 
& Action

Contact 
when 
Action 

needed

Contact 
when 
Action 

needed



1) Identifies event
2) Locate and document (pics, video) 

3) Contact GHAD President (or other active member) 
4) Contact Board President and Fire Station

5) Provide access for Engineer and work teams
6) Contact Homeowners after decisions

1) Assesses and chooses action
2) Consults with the EofR and determines actions needed.  

3) Calls Emergency GHAD Board meeting or Updates GHAD Board
4) Communicates with PDA Staff/Manager and or Board President during incident

5) Releases Emergency Funds

1) Coordinates with GHAD President
2) Determines urgency and severity of the incident

3) Acts as on-site coordinator
4) Determines contractors, supplies, equip needed and coordinates delivery etc.

5) Assess if permits needed and coordinates applications
6) Informs PDA Gatehouse of List of contractors coming on-site, and PDA staff on any 

other issues.

Responsibilities

PDA Staff/ Manager
(Reporting Entity)

GHAD President
(Liaison)

Engineer of Record
(On-site Coordinator)



Long-Term Rock Revetment Operations & Maintenance Plan (O&M)  
Pajaro Dunes Geohazard Abatement District  July 7, 2023 

PDGHAD  

Appendix D. Biotic Resources Report, 2015 



Biotic Resources Group 
Biotic Assessments  Resource Management  Permitting 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall 
Revised Revetment Design Repair  
Pajaro Dunes, Santa Cruz County 

 
Biotic Report 

 

 



Biotic Resources Group 
Biotic Assessments  Resource Management  Permitting 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

2551 South Rodeo Gulch Road #12  Soquel, Californica 95073  (831) 476-4803  brg@cruzio.com 
 

 

 
Pajaro Dunes Seawall 

Revised Revetment Design Repair  
Pajaro Dunes, Santa Cruz County 

 
Biotic Report 

 
 

 

Prepared for 

Arup North America, Ltd. 
560 Mission Street, Suite 700   

San Francisco CA 94105 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
Biotic Resources Group 

Kathleen Lyons, Plant Ecologist 
 

With  
 

Dana Bland & Associates  
Dana Bland, Wildlife Biologist 

 
October 14, 2015 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     1     October 14, 2015 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This project is located at Pajaro Dunes at the terminus of Beach Road in an unincorporated portion of 
southern Santa Cruz County (Figure 1). The proposed revetment repair work area is located within Lots 1, 3, 
6, 8, 9, 94 – 104 and 107 along the ocean side of the Pajaro Dunes residential development. The revetment 
repair area extends approximately 1,500 linear feet along the ocean side of these properties.  
 
The proposed project is the repair of an existing rock riprap revetment. For the repair, the toe of the existing 
revetment will be deepened by 4 feet and additional rock will be added to the face of the revetment to create 
a 1.5H: 1.0V slope. Approximately 1,500 linear feet of seawall, encompassing approximately 111,400 
square feet, will be affected. New rock will be used (in addition to the current rock revetment) to repair the 
revetment. The footprint of the revetment will not change. Work activities will include excavation of sand to 
expose the existing revetment and the addition of new rock to the deepened toe and to the face. The project 
will temporarily impact the beach area up to 30 feet seaward of the toe of the existing revetment. Phase 1 of 
the project will be the seawall repair on Lots 97 through 104; construction is expected to occur in 2016 and 
last approximately six weeks. Construction will need to be timed to occur during the lowest tides to 
facilitate site access. Phase 2 of the project will be repair work on the remaining eight lots. If repair work on 
all lots is conducted together, Phase 2 construction is expected to last approximately six weeks, with 
construction timed to occur during the lowest tides to facilitate site access. 
 
Four potential construction access ways have been identified. These are: 1) access to beach from West 
Beach Road through State Park lands, using an existing gravel road, 2) access to beach from West Beach 
Road along the undeveloped West Beach Road right-of-way, 3) access to beach from Willet Circle through 
Pajaro Dunes common area and Lot 101, and 4) access to beach from Puffin Lane through Lot 141 and 
Pelican Point common area. To accommodate construction equipment and materials (i.e., large rock) a 16-
20 foot wide access road is expected. In areas that require grading and sloping from the bluff top to the 
beach, such as in the Willet Circle and Puffin Lane access areas, a 40-60-foot wide disturbance area is 
expected.   
 
The Biotic Resources Group and Dana Bland & Associates assessed the biotic resources of the proposed 
work area in fall 2015 on behalf of Arup North America, Ltd (Arup). This work was supplemented by site 
surveys conducted in winter 2013 for a smaller repair design project. The proposed revetment repair work 
area and the four proposed construction access areas were the focus of the biological evaluation. Specific 
tasks conducted for this study include: characterize and map the major plant communities within the work 
area; identify sensitive biotic resources, including plant and wildlife species of concern, within the work 
area; and evaluate the potential effects of the proposed project on sensitive biotic resources and recommend 
measures to avoid or reduce such impacts.  
 

INTENDED USE OF THIS REPORT 
The findings presented in this biological report are intended for the sole use of the Arup and Pajaro 
Dunes Geologic Hazard Abatement District, their representatives, and the County of Santa Cruz in 
evaluating the proposed project. The findings presented by the Biotic Resources Group in this report are 
for information purposes only; they are not intended to represent the interpretation of any State, Federal 
or County laws or ordinances pertaining to permitting actions within sensitive habitat or endangered 
species. The interpretation of such laws and/or ordinances is the responsibility of the applicable 
governing body. 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     2     October 14, 2015 

EXISTING BIOTIC RESOURCES 
 

 

METHODOLOGY 
The biotic resources of the proposed revetment project area were assessed through literature review and 
field observations.  The project area was surveyed by Kathleen Lyons (plant ecologist) and Dana Bland 
(wildlife biologist) in October 2015. Previous data gathered in 2013 and 2008 for different seawall repair 
projects were also reviewed.  The revetment repair work area and the potential construction access areas 
were walked to ascertain the dominant community features and species occurrences.  
 
Vegetation mapping of the project area was conducted from a review of aerial photos and the field survey. 
The major plant communities within the project area, based on the classification system developed by 
CNDDB's California Terrestrial Natural Communities (CDFG 2010) and A Manual of California 

Vegetation (Sawyer and Keeler-Wolf 1995) and as amended to reflect site conditions, were identified 
during the field survey.  Modifications to the classification system’s nomenclature were made, as necessary, 
to accurately describe the sites resources. The plant communities within the proposed work area, 
surrounding areas, and the potential construction access areas were mapped onto aerial photo base map 
(source: Santa Cruz County GIS) (Figures 2 and 3) and a Google image (Figure 4). Plant nomenclature 
follows The Jepson Manual (2012).  
 
To assess the potential occurrence of special status biotic resources, two electronic databases were accessed 
to determine recorded occurrences of sensitive plant communities and sensitive species.  Information was 
obtained from the California Native Plant Society's (CNPS) Electronic Inventory (2015), and California 
Department of Fish & Wildlife (CDFW) RareFind database (CDFW, 2015) for the Watsonville West 
U.S.G.S. quadrangle and surrounding quadrangles.  
 
This report summarizes the findings of the biotic assessment for the proposed revetment repair project area. 
The potential impacts of the proposed project on sensitive resources are discussed below.  Measures to 
reduce significant impacts to a level of less-than-significant are recommended, as applicable.



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     3     October 14, 2015 

Figure 1. Project Location



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     4     October 14, 2015 

 
Figure 2. Existing Habitats, North 

REVETMENT REPAIR  
AREA, Lots 1, 3, 6, 8, 9, 
107 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     5     October 14, 2015 

 
Figure 3. Existing Habitats, South 

. Lots 94-104 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     6     October 14, 2015 

 EXISTING BIOTIC RESOURCES  
The Pajaro Dunes project area lies within the outer Central Coast geographic region (Sawyer and Keeler-
Wolf, 1995). The greater project area supports row crop agriculture, public park facilities, and residential 
development, including single-family homes and condominiums; the Pajaro Dunes development is 
situated between Monterey Bay (Pacific Ocean) and Watsonville Slough. Sunset State Beach (Palm 
Beach) is located immediately north of the Pajaro Dunes development; the State Park property begins 
across from the residential entrance on Beach Road. Other state lands are also present; these lands are 
located along the beach immediately west of the Pajaro Dunes development as well as beach lands to the 
north and south. Due to the close proximity of the ocean, the project area supports a sand-dune 
dominated ecosystem, comprised of beach and foredunes. On nearby state lands, the foredunes are 
generally vegetated with native dune scrub vegetation; although a large grove of non-native eucalyptus 
trees grow in the Beach Road area. Within the Pajaro Dunes facility, the open areas between the 
residential development support remnant stands of native dune scrub (including large stands of non-
native European dune grass and iceplant), residential landscaping, groves of non-native cypress trees, and 
combinations thereof.  
 
The distribution of vegetation types within the project area is depicted on Figures 2 and 3, based on the field 
surveys in 2008, 2013, 2015 and review of the aerial photographs. Three habitat types were observed within 
the revetment repair project area: beach, coastal dune scrub (including stands of European dune grass and 
residential landscaping), and non-native tree groves. The majority of the revetment work area is bare sand 
(sandy beach) or bare rock revetment, as depicted in Figures 4 through 6. 
 
The revetment repair work area is sparsely vegetated; where vegetation is present, invasive, non-native 
plant species are prevalent. The work area is located within the active beach zone; the beach is defined as 
the expanse of sandy substrate between mean tide and the foredune or, in the absence of a foredune, to 
the furthest inland reach of storm waves (Barbour and Major, 1988). Little vegetation persists due to the 
tidal activity which periodically scours away and then re-deposits sand onto the beach.  
 
The exposed portion of the existing rock revetment (and nearby residential development) is located 
within the historical foredune; this area is typically inland of the furthest reach of storm waves. Small 
pockets of vegetation were observed amid the exposed portions of the existing revetment, as well as on 
inland areas along the top of the revetment (adjacent to the residences). Although these areas support 
native sandy substrate suitable for native dunce scrub vegetation, the areas are dominated by non-native 
dune-adapted plant species, particularly stands of European dune grass, iceplant, sea rocket, and other 
residential landscaping. The general character of the revetment repair work area, the existing exposed 
revetment and vegetation at the top of slope is depicted in Figures 4 through 6. 

 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     7     October 14, 2015 

 
Figure 4. Aerial photograph of Project Area, showing extent of vegetation, exposed revetment  

and open sand, aerial image dated March 28, 2015 
 

 

 
Figure 5. View of revetment repair project area, looking north from Lot 94, October 2015. 

 

Approximate location of toe of 
existing revetment; revetment 
repair work area to occur at toe of 
existing revetment; temporary 
beach access/construction area to 
extent up to 30 feet outward of 
toe; little vegetation present due 
to surf/tidal activity (iceplant and 
sea rocket). 

Existing exposed revetment 
with little to no vegetation. 

Upper portion of revetment 
with dune –adapted 
vegetation, dominated by 
European dune grass, iceplant, 
and residential landscaping. 

Lot 
94 

Lot 
104 

Lot 
7 

Willet Circle 

Open Sand 

Exposed 
Revetment 

Dune Scrub 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     8     October 14, 2015 

Beach  
The land between the existing revetment and the ocean is active beach.  This area is devoid of vegetation 
as it is the area between mean tide and the furthest inland reach of storm waves. During the October 2015 
field survey sand covered most of the lower portion of the existing revetment. As depicted on Figure 5, 
only the upper portion of the revetment is exposed; the remainder of the revetment is under the sand.  
 
The wildlife value of the active beach area is primarily foraging habitat for shorebirds that seek 
invertebrates in the sand for food.  Because the area is regularly inundated during high tide, the area 
provides little value to wildlife for resting or overnight roosting habitat.  In addition, the high human use 
of this narrow strip of beach reduces it value to wildlife.  Gulls and shorebirds are expected to utilize this 
area as open sand and foraging opportunities are available. 
 

Central Dune Scrub, Including Stands of European Dune Grass 
The foredunes within the revetment repair work areas (adjacent to residences) support areas of dune 
scrub. This dune scrub vegetation is dominated by non-native species such as European dune grass 
(Ammophila arenaria) and iceplant (Carpobrotus sp.). Other species include sea rocket (Cakile 

maritima), myoporum (Myoporum sp.), bur clover (Medicago polymorpha), slender-leaved iceplant 
(Mesembryanthem nodiflorum), cat’s ear (Hypochaeris sp.), and ripgut brome (Bromus diandrus), as 
depicted in Figure 6.    
 

 
Figure 6. View of dune vegetation (dominated by iceplant) along top of revetment on Lot 3;  

looking north from beach, October 2015.  

 
Dune scrub is present along the West Beach Road right-of-way (potential construction access way) and at 
the proposed construction access ways from Willet Circle and Puffin Lane. In these areas, the scrub is a 
mixture of native and non-native dune species. Native species include mock heather (Ericameria 

ericoides), beach sagewort (Artemisia pycnocephala), lizard tail (Eriophyllum staechadifolium), beach 
primrose (Camissonia cheiranthifolia), sea lettuce (Dudleya sp.), yellow bush lupine (Lupinus arboreus), 

and beach bur (Ambrosia chamissonis). At the Puffin Lane construction access area, coastal gum plant 
(Grindelia stricta), Monterey paintbrush (Castilleja latifolia), dune tansy (Tanacetum camphoratum), 

and alkali heath (Frankenia salina) were also observed.  The dune scrub within the West Beach Road 
right-of-way also supports patches of silky beach pea (Lathyrus littoralis), telegraph weed (Heterotheca 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     9     October 14, 2015 

grandiflora), and Monterey spineflower (Chorizanthe pungens var. pungens). Monterey spineflower is a 
special status plant species (please see additional discussion on this species under Sensitive Biotic 
Resources). 
 
 Figures 7 through 10 depict the vegetation along the four potential proposed construction access ways.  
 

 
Figure 7. View westward from Willet Circle to beach, showing potential construction access area through Lot 

101, October 2015. 

 

 
Figure 8. View westward from Puffin Lane to beach, showing potential construction access area  

through Lot 141, October 2015. 

 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     10     October 14, 2015 

 
Figure 9. View westward from along West Beach Road right-of-way to beach, showing proposed construction 

access area and colony of Monterey spineflower, October 2015. 
 

In general, the berries of shrubs and the seeds of herbaceous plants in the coastal dune scrub habitat 
provide forage for wildlife.  Wildlife may perch on the outer perimeter of scrub to take advantage of 
hunting opportunities in adjacent openings, and take cover in the denser shrub patches as needed.  The 
value of the dune scrub to native wildlife at this site is low due to the predominance of non-native plants 
such as iceplant and European dune grass, the low amount of wildlife cover that these plant provide, the 
lack of nest sites provided by these plants, and the low diversity of invertebrate prey associated with 
dense cover of these non-native plants.  Common species such as sparrows and goldfinch may seasonally 
forage in these areas, but no nesting habitat for birds is expected to occur here.  The high human presence 
of the surrounding development and beach access areas is also a deterrent to native wildlife in these 
areas. 
 
Non-Native Tree Groves 
The project area supports several groves of non-native trees. A large grove of blue gum eucalyptus 
(Eucalyptus globulus) grows along West Beach Road (within State Park land) and along the West Beach 
Road right-of way (as depicted in Figure 10).  This area also supports groves of Monterey cypress 
(Cupressus macrocarpa). A smaller Monterey cypress grove also occurs near Willet Circle. A portion of 
the existing gravel road within State Park property traverses through a blue gum eucalyptus tree grove. 
No other trees occur within the proposed revetment repair work area or construction access ways. 
 
Understory vegetation within the trees groves is limited due to the dense shade and accumulation of bark 
peels and leaf litter; however iceplant, wild oat (Avena sp.), ripgut brome, myoporum, jubata grass, curly 
dock (Rumex crispus), and sea rocket were observed. 
 
Eucalyptus is not native to California, and does not support a very diverse wildlife assemblage. Common 
wildlife species that utilize eucalyptus groves include alligator lizard (Gerrhonotus multicarinatus) and 
Anna’s hummingbird (Calypte anna).  Eucalyptus trees are locally important as they provide potential 
wintering habitat for monarch butterflies (Danaus plexippus). The large eucalyptus grove at the proposed 
Beach Street access area provides potential monarch roosting habitat, but none have been reported in the 
CNDDB (CDFW, 2015) nor in multiple surveys conducted by State Parks (Chris Spohrer, State Parks, 
pers. com. 2008). 

Approximate 
location of colony 
of Monterey 
spineflower in 2008, 
2013, and 2015 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     11     October 14, 2015 

 

 
Figure 10. View westward along West Beach Road right-of-way to beach, showing potential construction access 

within eucalyptus and cypress tree groves, October 2015. 

 
 
SENSITIVE BIOTIC RESOURCES 
 
Sensitive Habitats 
Sensitive habitats are defined by local, State, or Federal agencies as those habitats that support special status 
species, provide important habitat values for wildlife, represent areas of unusual or regionally restricted 
habitat types, and/or provide high biological diversity.  Sensitive habitats are also defined by Santa Cruz 
County Code (Section 16.32 Sensitive Habitat Protection, 16.32.040 Definitions). Areas within the project 
area that are designated as sensitive habitats by the County are the sandy beach and dune plant habitats. The 
CNDDB also lists central dune scrub as a plant community of limited distribution and worthy of 
consideration during environmental review. Areas that provide habitat for rare species are also considered 
sensitive, such as nesting habitat for the western snowy plover and areas occupied by special status plant 
species (i.e., Monterey spineflower). The proposed revetment repair work areas, as well as a portion of the 
construction access areas, occur within sandy beach habitat, a County-designated sensitive habitat. Three of 
the four potential construction access ways support coastal dune scrub, a County-designated sensitive 
habitat.   
 
Tidal waters, up to the high tide line, are under federal jurisdiction. Section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors 
Act requires a permit for any work in, over, or under navigable waters of the United States. Examples of 
work include piers, docks, breakwaters, and dredging. Navigable waters are defined as those waters 
subject to the ebb and flow of the tide to the Mean High Water mark (tidal areas) or below the Ordinary 
High Water mark (freshwater areas). Navigable waters may be used currently, in the past, or in the 
future, to transport interstate or foreign commerce. Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (CWA, 1977, as 
amended) requires a permit for discharge of dredged or fill material into Waters of the United States. Under 
Section 404, Waters of the United States is defined as all waters which are used currently, or were used in 
the past, or may be used in the future for interstate or foreign commerce, including waters subject to the ebb 
and flow of the tide up to the high tide line. Portions of the construction access ways and the revetment 
repair work will be within the limits of Mean High Water; the toe of the existing revetment is founded at 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     12     October 14, 2015 

approximately 2 feet below mean sea level; the top of the revetment is at approximately 20 feet above mean 
sea level (Haro, Kasunich and Associates, Inc., 2008). 
 
Special Status Plant Species 
Plant species of concern include those listed by the Federal or State resource agencies as well as those 
identified as rare by CNPS (List 1B).  The search of the CNPS and CNDDB inventories resulted in several 
special status species with potential to occur in the project area, based on an evaluation of site conditions. 
These species are listed on Table 1. No species status species have been recorded from the revetment repair 
area, although Monterey spineflower has been documented from other areas within the Pajaro Dunes 
residential area. Colonies are known from dune scrub along the West Beach Road right-of-way and on 
private properties north of Willet Circle. The location of the colony of Monterey spineflower along the 
West Beach Road right-of-way is depicted on Figure 2, based on observations in 2008, 2013, and 2015. 
No other plant species of concern were observed or are expected to occur within the revetment repair 
project area.  
 
Monterey spineflower (Chorizanthe pungens var. pungens). This species is federally listed as endangered. 
This species is also listed as rare (List 1B) by the California Native Plant Society and is considered rare by 
the County of Santa Cruz and California Department of Fish and Wildlife. The species is not listed under 
the California Endangered Species Act. Similar in habitat conditions as the robust spineflower, the 
Monterey spineflower grows in sandy soils within portions of Santa Cruz County; the closest known 
locations to the project work area are from dune scrub habitat near Plover Circle and Willet Circle (Lot 109) 
within the Pajaro Dunes development. Another colony is known from Sunset State Beach.  The spineflower 
is characterized by its whitish flowers, low-growing habit and spiny bracts surrounding the flowers. The 
species occurs in open, sandy areas. A colony of Monterey spineflower was documented along the West 
Beach Road right-of-way in 2008 and was re-observed in February 2013 and October 2015. The colony 
encompasses an area approximately 20 feet by 20 feet, occurring on a dune slope amid mock heather, 
lizard tail and beach primrose.  The location of this colony is depicted on Figure 2. 
  



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     13     October 14, 2015 

 

Table 1. List of Special Status Plant Species with Potential to Occur in the Vicinity of the Revetment 
Repair Project Area, Pajaro Dunes, Watsonville, October 2015.  

 

Species 
 

CNPS 

 

State 
Status 

 

Federal Status 

 

Habitat Preference 

Observed on Site? 

Watsonville West Quadrangle 

Hooker’s manzanita 

(Arctostaphylos hookeri) 

List 1B.2 None None Sandy slopes, often intermixed with oak 
woodland; known from Buena Vista area 

No 

Pajaro manzanita 

(Arctostaphylos pajaroensis) 

List 1B.1 None None Sandy slopes, often intermixed with oak 
woodland; recorded from NW of Watsonville and 

in Prunedale area 

No 

Monterey spineflower 
(Chorizanthe pungens var. pungens) 

List 1B.2 None Threatened Sandy slopes, can be intermixed with oak 
woodland/maritime chaparral; recorded from 
Manresa and Sunset State beaches; Day Valley 

area; Pajaro Dunes 

Yes, one colony within West Beach Road right-of-
way (see Figure 2) 

Robust spineflower 
(Chorizanthe robusta var. robusta) 

List 1B.1 None Endangered Sandy slopes, often intermixed with oak 
woodland/maritime chaparral; recorded from 

Manresa State Beach; NE of Ellicott Pond, Aptos 
HS area 

No 

Sand-loving wallflower (Erysimum 
ammophilium) 

List 1B.2 None None Coastal dunes; recorded from Sunset State 
Beach, along Shell Road 

No 

Sand gilia  

(Gilia tenuiflora ssp. arenaria) 

List 1B.2 Threatened Endangered Coastal dunes; recorded from Sunset State Beach 

No 

Santa Cruz tarplant 
(Holocarpha macradenia) 

List 1B.1 Endangered Threatened  Grasslands, often on coastal terrace deposits; 
recorded from Harkins Slough area and 

Watsonville area 

No 

Kellogg's horkelia 
(Horkelia cuneata ssp. sericea) 

List 1B.1 None None Oak woodland and edges of grasslands; recorded 
from NW of Watsonville 

No 

Dudley’s lousewort 
(Pedicularis dudleyi) 

List 1B.2 None None Woodlands; historic (1884) occurrence from 
Aptos 

No 

Choris’s popcorn flower 
(Plagiobothrys chorisianus var. 
chorisianus) 

List 1B.2 None None Mesic grasslands, often on coastal terrace 
deposits; recorded from Watsonville Airport 

No 

Surrounding Quadrangles (Laurel, Loma Prieta, Watsonville East, Prunedale, Mt. Madonna, Soquel and Moss Landing) 

Bent-flowered fiddleneck  

(Amsinckia lunaris) 

List 1B.2 None None Grassland; recorded from Scotts Valley and 
Davenport 

No 

Anderson’s manzanita List 1B.2 None None Chaparral and forests; recorded from UCSC area 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     14     October 14, 2015 

Table 1. List of Special Status Plant Species with Potential to Occur in the Vicinity of the Revetment 
Repair Project Area, Pajaro Dunes, Watsonville, October 2015.  

 

Species 
 

CNPS 

 

State 
Status 

 

Federal Status 

 

Habitat Preference 

Observed on Site? 

(Arctostaphylos andersonii) and Bonny Doon 

No 

King’s Mountain manzanita 

(Arctostaphylos regismontana) 

List 1B.2 None None Chaparral and forests; recorded from Skyline 
area 

No 

Bonny Doon manzanita 
(Arctostaphylos silvicola) 

List 1B.2 None None Ponderosa pine and chaparral in Zayante sands; 
known from Felton and Ben Lomond area 

No 

Santa Cruz Mountains pussypaws 
(Calyptridium parryi var. hesseae) 

List 1B.1 None None Ponderosa pine and chaparral in Zayante sands; 
known from Felton and Ben Lomond area 

No 

Deceiving sedge 

(Carex saliniformis) 

List 1B.2 None None Mesic areas, marshes; historic record from Scotts 
Valley 

No 

Coyote ceanothus 

(Ceanothus ferrisiae) 

List 1B.1 None Endangered Chaparral, on serpentine; recorded from 
Anderson Reservoir and Uvas Canyon area 

No 

Congdon’s tarplant 

(Centromadia parryi ssp. congdonii) 

List 1B.1 None None Mesic grassland, heavy clay; recorded from 
Salinas area 

No 

Ben Lomond spineflower 
(Chorizanthe pungens var. 
hartwegiana) 

List 1B.1 None Endangered Ponderosa pine and chaparral in Zayante sands; 
recorded from Bonny Doon and Felton areas 

No 

Scotts Valley spineflower 
(Chorizanthe robusta var. hartwegii) 

List 1B.1 None Endangered Grassland on sandstone outcrops; known only 
from Scotts Valley area  

No 

Seaside birds-beak 

(Cordylanthus rigidus ssp. littoralis) 

List 1B.1 Endangered None Maritime chaparral and closed cone forests; 
recorded from Monterey Co. 

No 

Santa Clara Valley dudleya 

(Dudleya abramsii ssp. setchellii) 

List 1B.1 None Endangered Serpentine chaparral and rock outcrops 

No 

Eastwood’s goldenbush 

(Ericameria fasciculata) 

List 1B.1 None None Chaparral and coastal scrub; recorded from 
Monterey Co. 

No 

Hoover’s button-celery  

(Eryngium aristulatum var. hooveri) 

List 1B.1 None None Vernal pools 

No 

Ben Lomond wallflower  

(Erysimum teretifolium) 

List 1B.1 Endangered Endangered Ponderosa pine and chaparral in Zayante sands; 
known from Felton and Ben Lomond area 

No 

Minute pocket moss 

(Fissidens pauperculus) 

List 1B.2 None None Sandstone outcrops in grassland and oak 
woodland; recorded from Scotts Valley region 

No 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     15     October 14, 2015 

Table 1. List of Special Status Plant Species with Potential to Occur in the Vicinity of the Revetment 
Repair Project Area, Pajaro Dunes, Watsonville, October 2015.  

 

Species 
 

CNPS 

 

State 
Status 

 

Federal Status 

 

Habitat Preference 

Observed on Site? 

Fragrant fritillary 

(Fritillaria liliacea) 

List 1B.2 None None Moist serpentine areas in grassland; recorded 
from Santa Clara Co. 

No 

Loma Prieta hoita 
(Hoita strobilina) 

List 1B.1 None None Talus in chaparral and woodlands; 1936 
herbarium record from Santa Cruz 

No 

Smooth lessingia 
(Lessingia micradenia var. glabrata) 

List 1B.2 None None Serpentine soils in chaparral and grasslands; 
recorded from Santa Clara Co. 

No 

Arcuate bush-mallow 
(Malacothamnus arcuatus) 

List 1B.2 None None Serpentine chaparral 

No 

Hall’s bush-mallow 
(Malacothamnus hallii) 

List 1B.2 None None Serpentine chaparral 

No 

Woodland woollythreads 
(Monolopia gracilens) 

List 1B.2 None None Serpentine forest, woodland, chaparral, and 
grassland 

No 

Santa Cruz Mtns. beards tongue 
(Penstemon rattanii var. kleei) 

List 1B.2 None None Woodland and chaparral; herbarium collections 
from Ben Lomond Mtn. 

No 

White-rayed pentachaeta 
(Pentachaeta bellidiflora) 

List 1B.1 None None Serpentine grasslands 

No 

Yadon’s piperia 

(Piperia yadonii) 

List 1B.1 None Endangered Coastal scrub and oak woodland, often an 
talus/rocky areas 

No 

San Francisco popcorn flower 

(Plagiobothrys diffusus) 

List 1B.1 Endangered None Mesic grasslands, often on coastal terrace 
deposits 

No 

Scotts Valley polygonum 

(Polygonum hickmanii) 

List 1B.1 None Endangered Grasslands, on coastal terrace deposits 

No 

Pine rose 

(Rosa pinetorum) 

List 1B.2 None None Closed cone pine forests 

No 

Most-beautiful jewel-flower 

(Streptanthus albidus ssp. 
peramoenus) 

List 1B.2 None None Serpentine grassland  

No 

Santa Cruz Clover 
(Trifolium buckwestiorum) 

List 1B.1 None None Mesic grasslands 

No 

Saline clover 

(Trifolium hydrophilum) 

List 1B.2 None None Mesic grasslands, alkaline 

No 

 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     16     October 14, 2015 

Special Status Wildlife Species 
Special status wildlife species include those listed as threatened or endangered by either the Federal or 
State resource agencies, as well as those identified as State species of special concern.  In addition, all 
raptor nests are protected under Fish and Game Code, and migratory birds are protected by the Migratory 
Bird Treaty Act.  The text below summarizes the current status and occurrence of sensitive wildlife 
species that are potential inhabitants of the property.  Table 2 lists the special status wildlife species 
evaluated for the project area. 
 
Table 2.  Special status wildlife species and their predicted occurrence in the vicinity of the Seawall 
Revetment Project Area, Pajaro Dunes, Watsonville, CA, October 2015. 
SPECIES STATUS1 HABITAT POTENTIAL OCCURRENCE ON SITE 

Invertebrates 

Monarch butterfly  
Danaus plexippus 

* Eucalyptus, acacia and pine trees 
groves provide winter habitat when 
they have adequate protection from 
wind and nearby source of water 

Possible in dense Eucalyptus grove at 
proposed access road adjacent to Palm 
Beach; no other suitable habitat on site.  
No reports of wintering monarchs at this 
site. 

Fish 

Steelhead  
Oncorhynchus mykiss 
 

FT Perennial creeks and rivers with 
gravels for spawning. 

None, no suitable habitat on site. 

Tidewater goby Eucyclogobius newberryi 
 

FE, CSC Coastal lagoons and associated creeks 
up to 1 mile inland 

None, no suitable habitat on site. 

Amphibians 

California tiger salamander Ambystoma 
californiense 

FT, CSC Freshwater ponds, vernal pools for 
breeding, grasslands with burrows for 
upland habitat 

None, no suitable habitat on site.   

Santa Cruz long-toed salamander  
(Ambystoma macrodactylum croceum) 

FE, SE Freshwater ponds for breeding with 
water at least into June.  Riparian, oak 
woodland, dense coastal scrub for 
upland habitat. 

None, no suitable habitat on site.   

California red-legged frog 
Rana aurora draytonii 

FT, CSC Riparian, marshes, estuaries and 
ponds with still water at least into 
June. 

None, no suitable habitat on site.  
Watsonville Slough at this site too saline 
for the species. 

Reptiles 

Southwestern pond turtle 
Clemmys marmorata pallida 

CSC Creeks and ponds with water of 
sufficient depth for escape cover, and 
structure for basking; grasslands or 
bare areas for nesting. 

None, no suitable freshwater habitat.   

Black legless lizard  
Anniella pulchra nigra 

CSC Sand dunes with native vegetation Possible in equipment access areas at 
end of Beach Street and Puffin Lane, but 
not at repair site due to lack of native 
scrub. 

Birds 

Western snowy plover Charadrius 
alexandrinum nivosus 

ST, CSC Nests on sandy beach, shores of salt 
ponds 

Yes, occurs at Pajaro River mouth near 
access site at end of Puffin Lane, but not 
at repair site. 

Tricolored blackbird  
Agelaius tricolor 
 

CSC Dense bulrush and/or cattail 
vegetation adjacent to freshwater 
marshes 

None, no suitable habitat on site. 

Mammals 

American badger  
Taxidea taxus 

CSC Grasslands with friable soils for 
digging dens 

None, no suitable habitat on site. 

1 Key to status: 
FE = Federally listed as endangered species 
FT = Federally listed as threatened species; SE= State listed as endangered species 
CSC = California species of special concern; * = Species of local concern under County LCP 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     17     October 14, 2015 

 
Black legless lizard (Anniella pulchra nigra).  The black legless lizard is a California species of special 
concern.  It was proposed for federal listing as endangered in 1995 (USFWS 1995), but it was subsequently 
determined that listing was not warranted based primarily on the preservation of a large section of the 
former Fort Ord where this lizard occurs (USFWS 1998).  The black legless lizard inhabits coastal dunes in 
Monterey County between the Salinas and Carmel Rivers (USFWS 1998).  This lizard burrows into loose 
sand under plants including bush lupine, mock heather, and mock aster (Jennings and Hayes 1994).  It hunts 
for its insect prey while concealed in the leaf litter below the plants, and is rarely observed on the ground 
surface.   
 
The dune scrub habitat within the equipment access way at the end of Beach Street and end of Puffin 
Lane provides only marginal habitat for the black legless lizard, due to the sparse occurrence of native 
vegetation which this species is usually associated with, and the predominance of dense mats of non-
native plants such as iceplant.  However, this lizard may occur in these areas in small numbers where 
loose sand, leaf litter and adequate prey base exists.  This species is not expected to occur at the top of 
the revetment within the repair sites due to lack of native scrubs and dense cover of European dune grass 
and iceplant. 
 
Western snowy plover (Charadrius alexandrinum nivosus) is federally listed as a threatened species and 
is a California species of special concern.  The population segment of western snowy plover that is 
protected by the Federal Endangered Species Act is described as the Pacific Coast Population and 
includes nesting populations along the coast of California, Oregon, and Washington in areas adjacent to 
tidal waters, including the mainland cost, peninsulas, offshore islands, adjacent bays, estuaries, and 
coastal rivers (USFWS 1999).  The breeding season for snowy plovers on the Central California coast 
extends from early March to mid-September, and there is some overlap of wintering birds from northern 
areas arriving in mid to late summer.  Nests are built in loosely arranged colonies, eggs are laid in a 
shallow depression scraped in the sand, chicks hatch after an average 27 day incubation period, and 
juveniles are able to fly within 31 days of hatching (Warriner et al. 1986).  Snowy plovers forage on 
invertebrates along intertidal areas.  The primary threats to the species include loss and degradation of 
nesting and foraging habitat, human disturbances at nesting, wintering, and forging areas, and predation 
of eggs and chicks by mammals (e.g., red fox) and other birds (e.g., ravens). 
 
Western snowy plovers are known to nest on the beach at the mouth of the Pajaro River (CNDDB 2015), 
and in 2008 there were an estimated 20 nesting pairs (R. Warriner, pers. comm.).  Each spring, the 
California Department of Parks places stakes and flagging with signs around the nesting colony to deter 
beach users from entering the nesting colony, and if necessary, individual nests are fenced to exclude 
predators (Chris Spohrer, pers. comm.).  The Point Reyes Bird Observatory has been monitoring and 
studying this population of snowy plovers for over a decade.  This nesting colony is within designated 
critical habitat for the snowy plover, Unit 1 (Sunset Beach) of Site CA-7 (USFWS 1999). 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     18     October 14, 2015 

IMPACT AND MITIGATION DISCUSSION 
 

 

IMPACT CRITERIA 
The thresholds of significance presented in Appendix G the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
were used to evaluate project and to determine if the proposed revetment modifications and sheetpile wall 
work poses significant impacts to biological resources.   
 
For this analysis, significant impacts are those that substantially affect either:  

 Directly or through habitat modifications, any species identifies as a candidate, sensitive, or 
species status species in local or regional plans, policies or regulations, or by the California 
Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service  (e.g., Monterey 
spineflower, western snowy plover); 

 Any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural community identified in local or regional plans, 
policies, regulations or by the CDFW or USFWS (e.g., sandy beaches, central dune scrub); 

 Federally protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (including, but 
not limited to, marsh, vernal pool, costal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological 
interruption, or other measures; 

 The movement of any native resident of migratory fish or wildlife species or with established 
native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites 
(e.g., western snowy plover); 

 Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as  tree 
preservation policy or ordinance;  

 Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community 
Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan.  

 
 

POTENTIAL IMPACTS AND MITIGATION MEASURES 
The proposed revetment repair on the private lots and the four potential construction access areas were 
evaluated for potential direct and indirect impacts to biotic resources.  Impacts to sensitive habitats (sandy 
beach, central dune scrub) and special status species (western snowy plover, black legless lizard, and 
Monterey spineflower) were considered potentially significant. Impacts to botanical resources within the 
tree groves (e.g., vegetation removal, tree limb removal, tree removal) are considered less than significant. 
This is due to the non-native status of the trees and the lack of native dune scrub vegetation within the 
understory of the tree groves.   
 
Impacts to Sandy Beach Habitat 
As depicted on the project plans (Arup, March 2015), the revetment repair work will occur on open, sandy 
beach areas and existing revetment areas. Santa Cruz County considers sandy beach areas to be sensitive 
habitat. Some work and construction access will occur with Waters of the U.S. (below Mean High Water) 
 
Because the existing revetment is partially covered with sand, construction work will require removal of 
sand overlying the existing revetment, deepening the revetment toe by four feet, and adding new rock to the 
deepened toe and face of the revetment. Temporary impacts to the sandy beach will also occur during 
construction. These impacts include construction access and stockpiling of sand and other materials. Due to 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     19     October 14, 2015 

the lack of vegetation and the temporary nature of the construction, the impact to botanical resources on the 
sandy beach is less than significant. 
 
The majority of the work along the sandy beach habitat is not expected to cause significant impacts to 
sensitive wildlife species.  Most of the sandy beach habitat is regularly inundated by high tide, and does not 
provide suitable haul out, resting or roosting habitat for protected wildlife species such as seals or pelicans.  
However, if the construction access way at the end of Puffin Lane is used, this construction access would be 
located within 1,000 feet of the snowy plover nesting colony, and construction activities have the potential 
to cause significant impacts to nesting birds from noise and vibration, which may cause adults to abandon 
eggs or chicks, or interfere with normal adult and chick foraging activities within the colony.  Such impacts 
may result in direct impacts to the species, including death of eggs if the parent bird abandons the nest 
during certain critical incubation periods, increased predation of eggs or chicks by predators if the adult 
leaves the nest for prolonged periods due to construction noise, and disruption of normal foraging behavior 
by adults, chicks or fledglings due to noise.   
 
No construction activities are proposed to occur within the actual snowy plover nesting area at the mouth of 
the Pajaro River.  All construction equipment access activities that will be conducted within 1,000 feet of 
the snowy plover nesting colony will be temporary activities during the non-nesting season, and will not 
result in permanent impediments to movement, foraging or future nesting activities of the snowy plovers.  
The existing rock revetment along the beach will be replaced as necessary where portions have failed; no 
new areas of natural beach will be covered with revetment.  Assuming the project will not result in changes 
to beach transport of sand that may affect the sand spit at the mouth of the Pajaro River where snowy 
plovers nest, this project may affect, but is unlikely to adversely affect, the federally listed western snowy 
plover, and will not adversely modify the designated critical habitat for this species. 
 
Successful implementation of the following mitigation measures will reduce the potential impacts to nesting 
snowy plovers to a less-than significant level. 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-1.  Schedule the equipment access to the beach at the end of Puffin Lane 
(if this construction access way is used) to occur between September 1 and March 1 of any given 
year to avoid potential disturbance to western snowy plovers in the colony adjacent to the Pajaro 
River mouth.  Because this nesting colony is monitored annually by the biologists for PRBO, 
construction equipment access may begin earlier than September 1 at the northern reach of this 
1,000 foot buffer zone, if biologists determine that all juveniles are fully fledged at an earlier date.  
In such case, the biologists will notify the U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service when all young are 
fledged and able to forage on their own, and the contractor may proceed into the buffer zone after 
written confirmation has been obtained from the Service. This 1,000 foot area is depicted on Figure 
3.  

 
Impacts to Central Dune Scrub 
Depending upon the construction access way selected, native dune scrub vegetation could be affected by 
grading and compaction, as follows: 1) from Puffin Lane (through Lot 141 and Pelican Point common area) 
to the beach (approximately 3,600 square feet), 2) from Willet Circle to the beach (through Lot 101) 
(approximately 3,600 square feet), and 3), and 3) straight to the beach along the Beach Street Road right-of-
way (approximately 5,000 square feet).  Use of the existing road through State Park land will not affect dune 
scrub vegetation.  
 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     20     October 14, 2015 

Revetment repair will also affect small areas of dune scrub vegetation that grows along the upper edge of 
the revetment and adjacent to the residences. Up to approximately 30,000 square feet of dune scrub 
vegetation adjacent to the residences may be affected by the revetment repair work. As previously 
mentioned, the majority of this vegetation is comprised of invasive, non-native plant species and other 
residential landscaping. 
 
Santa Cruz County considers dune scrub to be a sensitive habitat. While most of the dune scrub vegetation 
within the revetment repair area is comprised of invasive, non-native plant species (e.g., iceplant and 
European dune grass), native dune plant species are present within the construction access ways and would 
be affected by grading and related construction access use.  In addition, black legless lizard, a State special 
of special concern, may occur within the dune scrub of the access areas.  Due to the presence of native dune 
scrub vegetation and the potential presence of black legless lizard, impacts to the dune scrub are considered 
significant. 
 
Successful implementation of the following mitigation measures will reduce the impacts to dune scrub to a 
less-than significant level. 
 

Mitigation Measure BIO-2.  The proposed project shall be designed to minimize impacts to native 
dune scrub to the greatest extent feasible. Prior to construction, temporary construction fencing 
shall be installed along the limit of the construction access areas to avoid inadvertent equipment 
access in dune scrub vegetation that that will be retained. Areas outside of the construction access 
areas shall not be disturbed by construction activities. All storage of construction materials, parking 
of vehicles and related equipment, shall be prohibited within the dune scrub that is to be retained.  
 
Mitigation Measure BIO-3. As compensation for the removal of native dune scrub vegetation for 
construction access, the applicant shall implement dune scrub revegetation within the common 
areas disturbed and on other suitable areas to meet a 1:1 impact to revegetation ratio. The 
revegetation area(s) shall be revegetated with locally obtained native plant species typical to central 
dune scrub.  Retain a qualified botanist to monitor the progress of the revegetated areas for a 
minimum of 3 years, with annual reporting to the County of Santa Cruz.  
 
Mitigation Measure BIO-4.  The applicant shall hire a qualified biologist to monitor the initial 
ground stripping and grading of the construction access ways at either end of Beach Street or end of 
Puffin Lane for black legless lizards.  If any black legless lizards are observed during the work, the 
biologist shall capture the lizards by hand or net, place the individuals in a bucket with sand, and 
relocate the individuals to an adjacent area of suitable habitat outside the construction zone.  

 

Impacts to Monterey Spineflower Colony 
Construction access to the beach along the Beach Street Road right-of-way may impact a colony of 
Monterey spineflower, a special status plant species.  Santa Cruz County considers habitat supporting 
special status species to be a sensitive habitat. Due to the status of this species (federally listed as 
threatened), impacts to this species at its habitat are considered significant. 
 
Successful implementation of the following mitigation measure will reduce the impact to Monterey 
spineflower to a less-than significant level. 
 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     21     October 14, 2015 

Mitigation Measure BIO-5. In conjunction with Mitigation Measure BIO-3, develop and 
implement a revegetation plan to re-establish a colony of Monterey spineflower with dune scrub 
vegetation. In the summer prior to construction collect all available Monterey spineflower seed 
from the impact area. Store this seed and utilize it in the revegetation plan; hand broadcast seed 
of this annual species into designated open sandy areas. Retain a qualified botanist to monitor the 
progress of the Monterey spineflower revegetation for a minimum of 3 years, with annual 
reporting to the County of Santa Cruz.   



 

 

Please ensure your ballot reaches us by June 9th, 2018 at the public meeting starting at 8am.  
Drop it in the dropbox at the Gatehouse, mail with the enclosed envelope by June 6th to:  

Pajaro Dunes GHAD 2661 Beach Rd. Building #1, Watsonville CA 95076 
 
 

 
 

 
Information session on April 14th, 2018 at the Meadow Room at Pajaro Dunes starting at 9am. 

 
Final hearing starts and ballots due June 9th, 2018 in the Meadow Room at Pajaro Dunes at 8am. 

March 10, 2018 April 14, 208 June 9, 2018  Aug 2018  Dec 2018  March/April 2019 

 

Ballots DUE 

 

Votes Tallied 

Info 
Session 

Public Meeting 

Meadow Room 

8am 

Yearly 
assessment 
is sent in 
property 
tax bill 

Yearly 
assessment is 
sent to 
County  

2018 Assessment Election Timeline 

Yearly assessment is 
collected. 

Funds available 

Resolutions 
passed to begin 
vote on new 
assessment 

Public Meeting 

Meadow Room 

9am 

Ballots Sent 

March 22nd  
2018 



 

 

Pajaro Dunes Seawall Revised Revetment Design Repair 
Biotic Report     22     October 14, 2015 

LITERATURE CITED AND REFERENCES 
 

 
Barbour & Major, 1988. Terrestrial Vegetation of California. California Native Plant Society, Sacramento, 

CA 
 
California Native Plant Society's Inventory of Rare and Endangered Vascular Plants of California.  CNPS, 

Sacramento CA. October 2015. 
 
California, State of, Department of Fish & Wildlife.  2015.  Natural Diversity DataBase, Natural 

Communities.  Rarefind program. 
 
California, State of, Department of Fish & Game.  2010.  The Vegetation Classification and Mapping 

Program, List of California Terrestrial Natural Communities Recognized by the CNDDB.  September 
2010. 

 
Haro, Kasunich and Associates, Inc. 2008. Description of Alternative 9, Pajaro Dunes South GHAD. 

Watsonville, CA.  
 
Hickman, J.  1993.  The Jepson Manual Higher Plants of California.  Berkeley:  University of California 

Press. 
 
Jameson, E. W. and H. J. Peeters.  1988. California mammals.  Univ. of California Press, Berkeley. 
 
Sawyer & Keller-Wolf, 1995. A Manual of California Vegetation. California Native Plant Society, 

Sacramento, CA 
 
U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service.  1995.  Proposed rule to determine five plants and a lizard from Monterey 

County, California, as endangered or threatened.  Federal Register Vol. 60, No. 148:  39326-39337. 
 
U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service.  1998.  Withdrawal of proposed rule to list the black legless lizard as 

endangered.  Federal Register Vol. 63, No. 155:  43129-43135. 
 
U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service.  1999.  Designation of critical habitat for the Pacific Coast population of the 

western snowy plover – final rule.  Federal Register Vol. 64, No. 234: 68507-68544. 
 
Warriner, J. S., J. C. Warriner, G. W. Page, and L. E. Stenzel.  1986.  Mating system and reproductive 

success of a small population of polygamous snowy plovers.  Wilson Bull.  98(1):15-37. 
 



Overview of a 218 Assessment Election: 
 

Reverse Timeline, based on current meeting schedules: 
 
July 20th-Aug 1st: Assessments are submitted to the County 
 
June 1st-July 20th: Post results of election.  Compile assessments for submission to the County. 
 
June 1st:  Regular PDGHAD meeting scheduled and Ballot Hearing 
 -Tabulation of ballots 
 - Resolution for 2023/2024 budget and assessment 
 
May 18th: Homeowners Meeting and proposed Information session.   
 
March 15th: Mailing of the Notice of an assessment election (77 days prior) and posted on 
Frontsteps as “ballots will be arriving in the mail”.  Requirements include: 

- Must be mailed at least 45 days prior to a scheduled hearing.  
- Amount of the assessment on the property 
- Amount of the total assessment for all properties 
- Duration of the assessment 
- Reason for the assessment 
- Basis for the cost estimates 
- Date, time and location of the hearing 
- A ballot 
- Summary of the procedures for balloting: completion, return, tabulation and procedures 

if a majority protest is lodged.  Ballots must be weighted to the proportion of the 
assessment being imposed.  

 
March 9th: Regular PDGHAD Meeting to pass Resolutions by the Board and approve final 
documents.  
 
January/February-may want to schedule additional meeting(s) for review of documents.  
 
December 9th 2023:  PDGHAD regular meeting and Homeowner’s meeting 

- Draft assessments, resolutions and mailing documents reviewed at regular PDGHAD 
meeting. 

- Presentation at Homeowners meeting about upcoming assessment election.   
- Create subcommittee to review documents and budgets.   

 
October 7th, 2023:  Estimates of costs reviewed, Discuss financing options 
 
 
 



Requirements for a 218 election: 

 
Included in: 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drought/pricing/docs/csda_guide_proposition_218.pdf 
 



800-537-7790 • SDRMA.ORG

Steady as you go.
When your team and ours all pull together, you get the
sure-footed stability you need to proceed with confidence.
As an extension of your staff, we are always at the
sidelines delivering service and expertise. For everything
from Workers’ Compensation and Property/Liability
coverages to Health Benefits options available throughout
California, we are here to keep you going strong. For more
information, visit sdrma.org.

ONE FORM PER REGISTRANT. PLEASE MAKE COPIES AS NEEDED.

Name/Title:

District:

Address: 

City: State: Zip:

Phone: Fax:

Email:

Special Needs (Including Dietary):

Emergency Contact Name: Emergency Contact Phone:

BOARD SECRETARY/CLERK CONFERENCE OPTIONS

Current Certificate Holder:  YES   NO 

I will be participating as:  First-time Attendee   Advanced/Returning Attendee

EARLY BIRD REGISTRATION - On OR Before Thursday, October 5, 2023   SDRMA Member* - $575   CSDA Member - $625   Non-member - $935

REGULAR REGISTRATION - AFTER  Thursday, October 5, 2023   SDRMA Member* - $625   CSDA Member - $675   Non-member - $1,010

PRE-CONFERENCE WORKSHOPS:     Tips for Managing the Records Retention Lifecycle* OR  How to Get Started with a DEIB Program*

 CSDA Member - $250       Non-member - $375

TOTAL $

PAYMENT INFORMATION

 Check  Visa  MasterCard  American Express  Discover

Acct. name: Acct. number:

Expiration date: Zip Code: CVC code: Authorized signature:

*SDRMA property/liability and/or workers’ comp members – please contact updates@csda.net for access code for SDRMA member pricing

Mail, fax or email completed form to:
California Special Districts Association
1112 I Street, Suite 200
Sacramento, CA 95814
Fax: 916.520.2465
Email: membership@csda.net

Questions?
Please contact us toll-free: 
877.924.2732

CSDA’s Special District Board Secretary/Clerk ConferenceTM •Monterey, CA

Attendee Registration Form
Embassy Suites Monterey Bay Seaside | 1441 Canyon Del Rey | Seaside CA 93955

Cancellations/Substitution Policy: Cancellations must be in writing and received by CSDA no later than October 5, 2023. All 
cancellations received by this date will be refunded less a $75 processing fee. There will be no refunds for cancellations 
made after October 5, 2023. Substitutions are acceptable and must be done in writing no later than October 27, 2023. 
Please submit any cancellation notice or substitution request to meganh@csda.net or fax to 916-520-2465.

Consent to Use Photographic Images: Registration and attendance at, or participation in, CSDA meetings and other activities 
constitutes an agreement by the registrant to for CSDA’s use and distribution (both now and in the future of the registrant 
or attendee’s image or voice in photographs, videotapes, electronic reproductions, and audiotapes of such events and 
activities. 

Our Anti-Discrimination and Harassment Policy can be found under “CSDA Transparency” at  
www.csda.net/about-csda/who-we-are.

Three Ways to Register
ONLINE by visiting the CSDA Annual Conference 
website at conference.csda.net.

FAX your registration form to 916-520-2465.  
EMAIL your registration form to membership@csda.net 
(All faxed/emailed forms must include payment)

MAIL to CSDA, 1112 I Street, Suite 200, Sacramento, CA 95814. 
(please include registration form along with payment. Check should 
be made payable to: California Special Districts Association).

  



6

CSDA’s

Board Secretary/Clerk Conference & 
Certificate ProgramTM

First-time attendees must complete all scheduled first-time attendee sessions in order to receive their 
certificate at the conclusion of the conference.
Board Secretary/Clerk Foundations
David Aranda, CSDM

The board secretary in a special district plays a multifaceted role that 
is also one of the most highly visible in the district. Board members, 
the public, and staff turn to the board secretary as a resource for 
information and assistance. The board secretary must ensure the 
district’s compliance with extensive legal requirements, handle 
contentious situations, respond to the needs of board members 
and the public, document board activities and decisions, and meet 
multiple deadlines. Start your first-time attendee journey here and 
together we’ll explore the job description and role of the clerk, 
as well as policies and procedures needed for your district to 
effectively serve its community.

Staying in Compliance
Atkinson, Andelson, Loya, Ruud & Romo

As times change, so does the need to re-interpret and review the 
laws governing special districts. This session covers crucial areas 
of the law as they relate to all types of special districts. Those areas 
include general compliance, answering specific questions about 
items such as communications through email, special meetings, 
economic conflicts of interest, and much more.

Advanced Training in the California Public 
Records Act
Best Best & Krieger LLP

If you are involved with a special district, you need to understand 
the scope and application of the California Public Records Act 
(CPRA) to your agency’s records, including best practices for 
records retention as well as responding to public records requests. 
This training is primarily intended for public agency personnel who 
have some knowledge of and experience with the CPRA, and who 
are seeking to expand their understanding of the law. We will cover 
key aspects of the CPRA, including when an applicable exemption 
may give an agency the right to not disclose a particular record or 
portion of a record. The presenters will use case studies to take you 
through the entire process from the initial records request to response 
options. There will also be updates on recent developments in the 
interpretation and application of the CPRA.

Best Practices for Taking & Processing 
Meeting Minutes
Best Best & Krieger LLP

“I Want It On The Record!” Every clerk dreads hearing those words 
when taking meeting minutes and clerking a Board of Director’s 
Meeting. In this fast-paced and fun session, learn best practices for 
taking and processing minutes according to Robert’s Rules of Order, 
and how the clerk can intervene when essential content is missing 
from the motion. We’ll also cover what should and should not be 
included in minutes (Hint: Not everything is important) and lastly, 
how to handle those loquacious Board Members who want every 
word ever spoken to be recorded for posterity. Note that this session 
does not cover the mental task of listening and scribing minutes, but 
rather, it describes problems that the presenter has encountered in 
her three decades of working as a Municipal Clerk and training 
other Clerks throughout California, Oregon and Alaska.

Website Compliance 101: Everything Board 
Secretaries Need to Know
Streamline, Cole Huber LLP

SB 929, AB 434, AB 2257, SB 272, oh my! The list goes on and on. 
With so many requirements for special districts, staying compliant 
can be a bear. Not to worry—in this session, the speakers will walk 
you through everything you need to know to stay compliant in 
California. You’ll leave with a checklist and learn where to go if you 
need more information or have questions.

Understanding Board Member and District 
Liability Issues
Best Best & Krieger LLP

Having a complete understanding of the potential liability issues in 
your district can prevent problems in the future and even assist with 
efficiency and communication protocols. This webinar is a discussion 
of the legal role of the board in the management and operation of 
a public agency, and the role of individual board members acting 
within the course and scope of their official duties.

SCHEDULED BREAKOUTS 

First-time Attendees


	PajaroDunesGHAD-RevetmentMaintenance-100PercentDraftEstimate-20230804-DP.pdf
	PDGHAD 8-5-23 Meeting Packet_small.pdf
	8-5-23 GHAD Agenda .pdf
	6-3-23 GHAD Minutes .pdf
	GHAD FS Jun.pdf
	190782-001-SeawallMaintenancePlanSubmitted20230707_small.pdf
	1.0 Overview
	2.0 Normal Operation and Maintenance
	2.1 Operation
	2.2 Maintenance Activities
	2.2.1 Rock Revetment
	2.2.2 Additional Facilities


	3.0 Inspection And Reports
	3.1 Inspection And Reporting Frequency
	3.2 Inspection Guidelines
	3.2.1 Physical Inspection
	3.2.2 Photo Documentation
	3.2.3 UAV Change Detection Scan
	3.2.4 Reporting


	4.0 Repair And Replacement
	4.1 Introduction
	4.2 Rock Revetment
	4.3 Permitting & Access for Repairs

	5.0 Emergency Operations/ Emergency Action Plan
	5.1 Santa Cruz County Emergency Alerts and Warnings
	5.2 Structures or Facilities that are not operated or Maintained by the Pajaro Dunes GHAD

	6.0 General
	6.1 Project Description
	6.2 Project Features
	6.2.1 Rock Revetment
	6.2.2 Sheet Pile Wall
	6.2.3 Stairways
	6.2.4 Access


	7.0 References
	AppB-190780.007-PajaroDunes-InspMemoNo.2WtithCountyEdits.pdf
	190780.007-PajaroDunes-InspMemoNo.2
	1.0 Introduction
	2.0 Development Description and Background
	1.0
	3.0 Summary of Observations
	3.1 General
	3.2 Site Observations
	3.3 Monitoring
	3.4 Conclusions and Discussion

	4.0 Limitations
	5.0 Closure

	190780.007-Fig1-SiteLocation-20220728
	190780.007-Fig2A-PhotoLocations-20220728r
	190780.007-Fig2B-PhotoLocations-20220728r
	190780.007-PajaroDunes-InspMemoNo.2
	190780-PhotoTemplate-Pages 16-reduced.pdf
	190780-Photo 1

	190780-PhotoTemplate-Pages 10 to 15-reduced.pdf
	190780-Photo 1
	190780-Photo 2
	190780-Photo 3
	190780-Photo 4
	190780-Photo 5
	190780-Photo 6

	190780-PhotoTemplate-Pages 2 to 9-reduced.pdf
	190780-Photo 1
	190780-Photo 2
	190780-Photo 3
	190780-Photo 4
	190780-Photo 5
	190780-Photo 6
	190780-Photo 7
	190780-Photo 8

	190780-PhotoTemplate-Pages 1-reduced.pdf
	190780-Photo 1



	FINAL_2018 assessment timeline for mailings.pdf
	Overview of a 218 Assessment Election.pdf
	Pages from CSDA Board Clerk Conference.pdf




